

#### Calcium metabolism and breast cancer risk

Almquist, Martin		
2009		

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Almquist, M. (2009). *Calcium metabolism and breast cancer risk*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö]. Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University.

Total	number	of	author	s:
1				

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

• Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or recognise.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

# Calcium Metabolism and Breast Cancer Risk



Doctoral Dissertation Series 2009:30 ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-86253-17-2 Martin Almquist

Dept of Clinical Sciences Surgery, Malmö Lund University 2009



### CALCIUM METABOLISM AND BREAST CANCER RISK

## CALCIUM METABOLISM AND BREAST CANCER RISK

Martin Almquist

### Akademisk avhandling

Som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska Fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap kommer att offentligen försvaras i Lilla aulan, Medicinskt Forskningscentrum (MFC), ingång 59, UMAS, Malmö, Fredagen 27/3 2009 kl 13.00

Fakultetsopponent: Professor Jan Frisell, Kirurgiska kliniken, Karolinska Sjukhuset



Lund 2009
Dept of Clinical Sciences, Surgery, Malmö, Lund University

4
51
S
SI
enl
9
ĭ
₽ P
Э
δ
Ε
H
Ξ
5
$\nabla$
Ų
Д

	Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERT	TATION		
	Department of Clinical Sciences, Surgery, Malmö University Hospital	Date of issue February 9, 2009			
		Sponsoring organization			
	Author(s) Martin Almquist				
	Title and subtitle CALCIUM METABOLISM AND BREAST CANCER RISK				
Ī	Abstract				
DOKUMENTDATABLAD enl SIS 61 41 21	Emerging evidence suggests that calcium and its regulating hormones, i.e. vitamin D and parathyroid hormone (PTH), affect breast cancer risk.  The associations between serum calcium levels and breast cancer risk, between serum calcium levels and known risk factors of breast cancer, and between serum calcium levels and breast cancer aggressiveness were examined within the Malmö Preventive Project, a population-based cohort comprising 10,902 women. Serum calcium, 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25OHD) and PTH levels were furthermore examined in relation to breast cancer risk in a nested case-control study comprising 764 breast cancer cases within the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study.  Serum calcium levels were positively associated with breast cancer risk in overweight/obese women. In premenopausal women, serum calcium was in one study negatively, and in one study positively, associated with breast cancer. Calcium was positively associated with breast cancer aggressiveness in overweight and/ or premenopausal women. Premenopausal status and use of oral contraceptives and hormone-replacement therapy were negatively associated with serum calcium levels. BMI was significantly associated with serum calcium levels, with lean and overweight women having higher calcium levels than women with BMI between 20 and 25.  There was a weak, statistically non-significant, inverse association between 25OHD levels and breast cancer risk. There was no evidence for any relation between PTH levels and breast cancer.  It is concluded that serum calcium is positively associated with breast cancer risk and aggressiveness in overweight women. There may be a weak negative association between vitamin D and breast cancer risk, but this will have to be further examined.				
	Key words: calcium; breast cancer; vitamin D; parathyroid hormone; body mass index; menopause.				
+	Classification system and/or index terms (if any):				
	Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language English		
Ī	ISSN and key title: 1652-8220	ISBN 978-91-86253-17-2			
Ī	Recipient's notes	Number of pages 92	Price		
		Security classification			
_	Distribution by (name and address) Martin Almquist, Department of Clinical Sciences, Surgery, Malmö University Hospital, Lund University, Sweden.				
		I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.			
	Signature Signature	Date <u>Februar</u>	y 9, 2009		

Till Camilla

In the long run, men hit only what they aim at. Therefore, they had better aim at something high.

\*Henry David Thoreau (1817–1862)

Principal supervisor: Jonas Manjer

Assistant supervisors: Anne-Greth Bondeson and Lennart Bondeson

English supervisor: Christopher Kennard, Anchor English

Martin Almquist 2009 e-mail: martin.almquist@med.lu.se

> © 2009 Martin Almquist and authors of included articles Layout & typography: Maria Näslund/Formfaktorn Printed by Grahns Tryck AB, Lund 2009

## Contents

List of papers	9
Abbreviations	10
Introduction	11
Aim of the thesis	11
Breast cancer	12
Calcium metabolism	14
Calcium, vitamin D, PTH and breast cancer	18
Materials and methods	20
Results	24
General discussion	25
Conclusions	30
Acknowledgments	30
Funding	30
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning på svenska	31

References	32
Papers	
Paper I	41
Paper II	51
Paper III	63
Paper IV	77

## **List of Papers**

This thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Almquist M, Manjer J, Bondeson L, Bondeson AG. Serum calcium and breast cancer risk: results from a prospective cohort study of 7,847 women. *Cancer Causes Control* 2007; 18:595–602 \*
- II Almquist M, Bondeson AG, Bondeson L, Halthur C, Malm J, Manjer J. Reproductive history, lifestyle factors and season as determinants for serum calcium concentrations in women. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2008; 68:777–85 \*\*
- III Almquist M, Anagnostaki L, Bondeson L, Bondeson AG, Borgquist S, Landberg G, Malina J, Malm J, Manjer J. Serum calcium and tumour aggressiveness in breast cancer a prospective study of 7,847 women. Submitted.
- IV Almquist M, Bondeson AG, Bondeson L, Malm J, Manjer J. Serum levels of vitamin D, PTH, calcium and breast cancer risk – a prospective nested case-control study. Submitted.
  - \* Reprinted with permission from Springer.
- \*\* Reprinted with permission from Taylor and Francis.

## **Abbreviations**

1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D 25OHD 25-hydroxyvitamin D

AJCC American Joint Committee on Cancer

ANOVA Analysis of variance
CaSR Calcium-sensing receptor
CI Confidence interval

HHM Humoral hypercalcemia of malignancy

HRT Hormone replacement therapy

IQR Interquartile range

MDCS Malmö Diet and Cancer Study MPP Malmö Preventive Project NPI Nottingham Prognostic Index

OC Oral contraception

OR Odds ratio

pHPT Primary hyperparathyroidism

PTH Parathyroid hormone

PTHrP Parathyroid hormone-related peptide RDA Recommended daily allowance

RR Relative risk

SIR Standardised incidence ratio TNM Tumour, Node, Metastasis

UICC International Union against Cancer SCDR Swedish Cause of Death Registry

### Introduction

Breast cancer is the most common cancer in females. A growing body of literature, including epidemiologic, clinical and experimental research, suggests that calcium and its regulating hormones, i.e. vitamin D, parathyroid hormone, PTH, and PTH-related peptide, PTHrP, may affect breast cancer risk [1–11]. PTH and vitamin D regulate the production of each other, and both factors increase serum calcium levels [12].

Experimental studies have shown that 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D), the biologically active form of vitamin D, can inhibit cellular proliferation, induce apoptosis and inhibit angiogenesis in normal and malignant breast cells [13]. Currently, vitamin D status in humans is considered to be best estimated by measuring plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25OHD) levels [14] and three prospective case-control studies have found a weak, statistically non-significant negative association between 25OHD levels and breast cancer risk [15–17]. A randomised trial found a reduction of breast cancer incidence in postmenopausal women treated with vitamin D and calcium supplements [9]. In that trial, there was also a statistically significant negative association between 25OHD levels and cancer risk.

Many epidemiologic investigations have found an increased risk of breast cancer in relation to primary hyperparathyroidism, a condition characterised by increased levels of PTH [1–3, 18]. Experimental studies also suggest that PTH has carcinogenic and tumour promoting effects [19–21].

Serum calcium *per se* might affect breast cancer incidence and aggressiveness. Calcium is an important intracellular messenger that is involved in processes related to proliferation, apoptosis and cell signalling [22]. Increasing calcium concentrations decreases proliferation and increases differentiation in breast cancer cell lines [13], which would imply a tumour protective effect. The calcium-sensing recep-

tor, CaSR, is expressed both in normal [23] and malignant breast cells [24] and its expression seems to be correlated with skeletal metastasis [24, 25], suggesting a link between serum calcium and breast cancer aggressiveness.

Calcium metabolism might also be influenced by reproductive factors [26, 27]. It is possible to hypothesise that interactions between vitamin D, PTH and calcium and reproductive factors modify any associations between these factors and breast cancer risk.

Furthermore, several conditions may modify the relation between vitamin D, PTH, calcium and the risk of breast cancer. High age and obesity are associated with altered calcium metabolism [28, 29], high levels of PTH [30, 31], low levels of 25OHD [32], and, at least in postmenopausal women, an increased risk of breast cancer [33, 34]. It has also been suggested that pre- and postmenopausal women may have different risk factors for breast cancer [35] and that obesity may modify the association between established risk factors and breast cancer [34]. Several known risk factors of breast cancer, for example age, obesity, and use of HRT [36, 37] have been shown to specifically affect tumour biology, increasing or decreasing the risk of more aggressive tumours. Indeed, a previous study has suggested that high vitamin D intake may decrease overall breast cancer risk and that this decreased risk was especially related to aggressive breast cancers [38].

## Aim of the thesis

The aim of this thesis was to study the relations between calcium, the calcium-regulating hormones, i.e. vitamin D and PTH, and breast cancer in two large cohorts: the Malmö Preventive Project (MPP), including 10,902 women altogether, with information on serum calcium levels and established risk factors of breast cancer at baseline; and the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study

(MDCS), comprising 17,035 women, with serum samples available for analysis.

Specifically, it was hypothesised that:

- Serum calcium levels are positively associated with breast cancer risk
- Serum calcium levels are correlated to female reproductive factors, age and anthropometric factors
- Serum calcium levels are associated with breast cancer aggressiveness, as determined by the risks of biologically different breast cancer subgroups
- Vitamin D, as measured by 25OHD levels, is negatively, and PTH levels are positively, associated with breast cancer risk

#### Breast cancer

Breast cancer is by far the most common cancer in women in the Western world, comprising around 30% of all cancers in women [39], afflicting around 7000 women yearly in Sweden [40]. There are annually 1.15 million new breast cancer cases worldwide. The life-time risk of breast cancer in women in the industrialised world is estimated to be around 11% [33].

Even though screening, diagnosis and treatment have improved so that 5-year survival in the U.S. is now about 89%, breast cancer remains the leading cause of death due to cancer in women [39]. Despite the fact that breast cancer incidence has increased over the years, mortality in the disease in many developed countries has remained constant or has even decreased [41].

Breast cancer incidence shows a striking regional variance. It is lowest in Africa and some parts of Asia, somewhat higher in Latin America, and highest in industrialised countries. Moreover, incidence is inversely associated with latitude – the further away from the equator, the higher the risk of breast cancer [39].

## Breast cancer biology

The initiation of breast cancer is a cellular, multi-step genetic process, in which a series of defences must be overcome, leading to the classic malignant triad of growth, invasion and metastasis. Normal and malignant breast tissue is regulated both by systemic sex hormones, such as estrogens and progesterones, and by auto- and paracrine growth factors, such as epidermal growth factors (EGF), fibroblast growth factors (FGF) and insulin like growth factors (IGF). Hence, breast cancer cells are in intense interaction with their surroundings. Thus, breast cancer, perhaps more than any other cancer, is a systematic disease [42].

More than 95% of breast cancers are epithelial tumours, arising from the milk-producing glands (lobular carcinoma) or the draining ducts (ductal carcinoma) [42]. The current WHO-classification recognises six major histological types. Apart from the lobular and ductal types these also include phyllodes tumours, which are related to sarcomas, and medullary, mucinous and tubular types [43]. Besides type, *grade* also incorporates a histologic determination, which usually includes mitotic counts, the extent of tubule formation and the degree of nuclear atypia [44].

Modern molecular markers in breast cancer such as the expression of estrogen and progesteron receptors, p53, cathepsin-D, KI-67 and HER-2 receptors can aid in determining prognosis, guiding therapy, predicting the response to therapy and the risk of recurrence, and can be used in research. Stage and grade, however, still remain the most important determinants of survival in breast cancer [45].

Metastasis follows a clear pattern, and usually occurs first in the ipsilateral axillary lymph nodes. Lymph drainage usually passes one lymph node first, the *sentinel node*, which is the rationale of the current surgical technique in the axilla (see below). Distant metastasis can occur in bone and the liver and signifies incurable disease [42].

Stage refers to the clinical and/or pathological extent of disease, and is classified according to the International Union against Cancer (UICC/AJCC) classification [46]-T – tumour size, N – presence and number of lymph node metastases, and M – presence or absence of distant metastasis, such as liver and bone.

### Diagnosis of breast cancer

The most common presenting symptom is a lump in the breast, but changes in size or shape of the breast, bleeding or excretion from the nipple, ulceration of the skin or enlarged nodes are sometimes the first signs and symptoms of breast cancer. The cornerstone in obtaining a correct diagnosis is triple assessment, which involves clinical examination, imaging such as mammography and ultrasound, and pathology. This enables a confident diagnosis in 95% of cases [42].

Some countries offer mammographic screening for women from around 40–50 years up until about 65–75 years of age. Randomised clinical trials conducted in the 1970s, with recent follow-ups, have shown a clear reduction in mortality in screened vs. unscreened [47, 48].

#### Treatment of breast cancer

The cornerstone of treatment is surgical excision of the primary tumour, either as a breast-preserving procedure, or with removal of the whole breast, mastectomy. With either procedure, immediate or late reconstructive surgery aiming at restoring the normal appearance of the breast can be offered. After breast-conserving surgery, radiation therapy to the remaining breast is usually recommended [42]. An operation to determine axillary nodal status is routinely performed, currently with the sentinel node technique. Pre-operatively, radioactive material is injected close to the tumour in the breast. During the operation, a blue dye is injected peritumourally. The radioactivity

and the dye travel with the lymphatics and accumulate in one or a few lymph nodes. With radioguidance, these lymph nodes are excised and sent for immediate pathologic analysis. In the absence of nodal metastasis, no further axillary operation is performed. When present, a formal axillary lymph node dissection is carried out [42].

If the breast cancer is estrogen-receptor positive, therapy with anti-estrogens such as tamoxifen and aromatase inhibitors is recommended. The human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER-2), a tyrosine kinase, is involved in breast cancer progression. Breast cancers that are positive for HER-2 can be treated with trastuzumab (Herceptin®), a recombinant humanised monoclonal antibody which targets HER-2 [49]. Chemotherapy is indicated mainly for premenopausal women with breast cancer [42].

### **Prognosis**

If the tumour can be resected surgically and there are no signs of metastasis, prognosis is excellent. Even with limited axillary metastasis, there is a good chance of long-term survival. With distant metastasis, the disease is incurable. However, for all stages, a risk that breast cancer will recur will remain for the rest of the patient's life [45], which is in contrast to most other cancers, which are considered cured if there is no recurrence within five years of completed treatment. However, the biologic behaviour of breast cancer is remarkably individual, with patients with disseminated disease sometimes surviving for years, whereas others rapidly succumb.

### Risk factors for breast cancer

Age is the most important risk factor. Before age 30, breast cancer is exceedingly rare. Incidence increases until the age of 80. When grouped together, women older than 65 years of age have a 5.8 fold increased risk of breast

cancer as compared to those younger than 65 years of age [33].

Having a mother or a sister with breast cancer increases breast cancer risk four-fold [33]. In the 1990s, two major susceptibility genes for breast cancer, BRCA1 and BRCA2 were identified [50, 51]. Women with germ line BRCA1/BRCA2 mutations have an estimated life-time risk of breast cancer of 65% and 45%, respectively [52]. However, the majority of familiar breast cancer cases are not due to mutations in these genes. Rather, breast cancer susceptibility is polygenic: several genes, each with a small effect, contribute to breast cancer risk. Technological advances have made it possible to analyse hundreds of thousands of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs, which are DNA sequence variations occurring within a single nucleotide). These genome-wide association studies have identified novel breast cancer susceptibility loci, pointing to further plausible causative genes [53].

Previous benign breast disease, exposure to ionising radiation, and dense breast parenchyma as defined by mammography are risk factors associated with a two to four times increased incidence. Early menarche, late first full-term pregnancy, nulliparity, late menopause and exposure to HRT are all associated with a doubled risk [33]. Users of oral contraception have a higher risk as compared to non-users, but this risk declines when stopping, and in ten years returns to that of non-users [54].

High incidence has also been reported for obese postmenopausal women and for women in affluent socio-economic groups. Breast-feeding, early oophorectomy and physical activity are all associated with a reduced incidence of breast cancer [33, 55, 56].

Diets with a high glycemic index and alcohol consumption have been associated with a very modest but statistically significant increase in breast cancer risk [33, 57]. Anthropometric factors also affect breast cancer risk and a high BMI is a risk factor for breast cancer in postmenopausal women [33, 34].

Some of these risk factors also influence breast cancer behaviour, i.e. aggressiveness. For instance, it was found that users of HRT had an increased risk of breast cancer, but this increase was mainly seen in small, low-grade tumours without metastasis, i.e. tumours with better prognosis [58]. Importantly, some risk factors might interact with each other, synergistically increasing or decreasing breast cancer risk. For example, the relative risk associated with alcohol consumption increases as a function of increased BMI, while the relative risk associated with BMI increases as a function of patient age. Several models have been developed to assess the interactive effect of multiple risk factors on overall patient risk [33].

## Calcium metabolism

Extracellular calcium is the most tightly regulated ion in humans. Most of the calcium (99%) in the body is stored in the skeleton, which serves as a reservoir of calcium. Circulating calcium thus constitutes only a small fraction of total body calcium. In blood, approximately 47% of calcium is free (ionised), 46% is bound to different proteins, mainly albumin, and the rest is bound to small ions.

In its ionised form, calcium serves as an intracellular messenger that participates in muscle contraction, neurotransmission, enzyme and hormone secretion, cell cycling and gene expression. Thus, calcium controls a wide range of essential cellular functions [22]. The extracellular free calcium is tightly regulated by PTH and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D).

## Calcium-regulating hormones

### Parathyroid hormone (PTH)

The parathyroids are small glands located close to the thyroid, hence their name. Usu-

ally numbering four, they sense the extracellular calcium level by means of the calciumsensing receptor (CaSR) and in a negative feed-back adjust their secretion of PTH accordingly [59]. PTH acts on PTH-receptors (PTHR1) found mainly in bone and kidney and its net effect is an immediate increase in serum calcium [60]. Thus, PTH is the main regulator of short-term serum calcium levels. PTH has a half-life of only about three to eight minutes and is rapidly degraded in the circulation [61].

#### Vitamin D

The main source of vitamin D is endogenous synthesis in the skin where vitamin  $D_3$  is produced from 7-dehydrocholesterol under the influence of ultraviolet radiation, e.g. sunlight; another source is through the diet, as vitamin  $D_2$  (from plants) or vitamin  $D_3$  (from animals), either in food or as supplements [62]. Vitamin D is further transformed through enzymatic steps, first in the liver, to 25OHD, and secondly in the kidney to the active form 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D. Both 25OHD and 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D exist in  $D_2$  and  $D_3$  forms.

25OHD is currently considered the best marker of human vitamin D status, since it has a long serum half-life, about three weeks. 25OHD thus indicates vitamin D stores obtained from both ultraviolet irradiation and dietary intake over long periods [14].

Vitamin D is technically not a true vitamin since it can be produced endogenously. Moreover, the term *vitamin D* does not refer to one single substance, but rather to a family of biochemically related steroid molecules, all with different biological properties.

Active vitamin D, 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D, exerts its effects by binding to vitamin D-receptors, VDRs. These are found in the cell nucleus, where the ligand-receptor complex interacts with genomic DNA and selectively induces transcription and expression of certain genes [63]. They are also found in the cell mem-

brane, where they are localised in flask-like invaginations called caveolae. These membrane VDRs are responsible for the more immediate actions of 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D, such as the enhancement of intestinal calcium absorption [63].

## The relation between vitamin D and PTH

PTH increases conversion of 25OHD into 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D by acting on the renal enzyme 1α-hydroxylase. Both 25OHD and 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D act on the parathyroids to suppress PTH-production [64], and 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D also decreases parathyroid cell proliferation [65]. Low levels of 25OHD lead to decreased intestinal calcium absorption, causing a secondary increase in PTH [66, 67], which can be lowered by orally substituting vitamin D [66]. Hence, PTH and vitamin D are physiologically inversely related to each other. Several cross-sectional studies have found statistically highly significant but rather weak inverse correlations between PTH and 25OHD levels, with relation coefficients (*r*) not exceeding –0.39 [68].

#### Calcitonin

The role of calcitonin, a 32-amino acid peptide secreted by the C-cells of the thyroid, in human calcium metabolism is unclear. Calcitonin inhibits bone resorption and is used therapeutically in diseases such as Paget's disease and hypercalcemia of malignancy [22]. Its physiological role in calcium metabolism in humans, if any, has been challenged since absence of calcitonin (for example, after thyroidectomy) does not seem to affect calcium metabolism [22].

### Diet and calcium metabolism

#### Dietary calcium

About 70% of dietary calcium comes from milk and dairy products, mainly cheese [69].

Commonly, fruit juices, soft spreads, wheat flour, milk and milk products such as yoghurts are fortified with calcium [70]. Calcium is widely available as non-prescription multivitamin supplements, and is prescribed as prophylaxis and treatment for several conditions, most notably osteoporosis. In many countries, including Sweden, the recommended daily allowance (RDA) is about 900 mg/day [71], rising to 1200 mg/day for adolescents and the elderly [70].

#### Dietary vitamin D

Vitamin D occurs naturally as vitamin D<sub>3</sub>, in some animal foods, especially fat fish [72]. Currently, many foods, such as cereals, milk, milk products, and fruit juices are fortified with vitamin D [72], either with vitamin  $D_2$ , manufactured from yeast ergosterol, or vitamin  $D_3$ . Studies indicate that vitamin  $D_3$  is more effective than vitamin D<sub>2</sub> in terms of raising serum 25OHD levels [73–75] but current dietary and supplementary recommendations do not distinguish between the two [71, 72]. The RDA for vitamin D is around 400 IU (10 μg) in many countries [72], including Sweden [71]. Low 25OHD levels and high dietary phosphates decrease intestinal calcium absorption [76]. It has been suggested that increasing the amount of calcium ingested directly affects the metabolism and leads to corresponding lower serum levels of 25OHD [77].

However, despite large fluctuations in the ingested amounts of calcium and vitamin D, serum calcium remains within very narrow limits, due to the immediate effects of circulating PTH [22].

## Calcium metabolism in normal breast tissue

Breast milk contains large amounts of calcium to supply the needs of the growing skeleton in the newborn. During lactation, the mammary gland excretes PTH-related peptide, PTHrP,

which mediates the release of calcium from the maternal skeleton for transfer to milk, thus functioning as an accessory parathyroid gland [11]. In humans, PTHrP is composed of either 141 amino acids, or, due to alternative splicing, 139 or 173 amino acids. It shares considerable N-terminal sequence homology with PTH and acts on the same receptor [78]. It functions as a local autocrine or paracrine factor with several important physiological roles, including the regulation of chondrocyte growth and differentiation of the growth plates of developing long bones [78]. Studies in animals suggest that PTHrP also regulates mammary development [79]. It has similar physiologic effects as PTH in terms of calcium metabolism.

During lactation, an increase in  $1.25 OH_2D$  is also seen, probably mediated by PTHrP acting on renal  $1-\alpha$ -hydroxylase.

## Calcium metabolism and female sex steroid hormones

Estrogens given perorally or parenterally decrease serum total and ionised calcium concentrations, and total plasma calcium rises at menopause [80]. Estrogen administration to postmenopausal women increases the concentration of serum 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D, perhaps by increasing the conversion of 25OHD to 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D in the kidney [81].

One *in vitro* study showed that estradiol and/or progesterone stimulates PTH-secretion from human parathyroid tissue [82], but other experimental work found no evidence of estrogen receptors in bovine parathyroid glands nor in parathyroid adenomas [80]. Hence, there has been considerable disagreement regarding the effects of estrogen on the regulation of PTH-secretion; it has been reported that estrogen reduces the set-point for PTH release by calcium but also that estrogen has no effect on the relationship between calcium and PTH-secretion [83].

Perhaps physiologically more important is

the effect of estrogen on skeletal responsiveness to PTH. Under normal circumstances, PTH releases calcium from the skeleton, not by directly activating osteoclasts but rather through the stimulation of osteoblasts to secrete cytokines. These act on osteoclast progenitor cells and induce differentiation into mature osteoclasts, which resorb bone and release calcium [84]. Estrogen, via the estrogen receptor, blocks this PTH-stimulated osteoclast formation [84, 85]. This mechanism might be responsible for the calcium-decreasing effect of estrogen.

## Disorders related to calcium, vitamin D and PTH

The two most common causes of clinical hypercalcemia are pHPT, primary hyperparathyroidism and HHM, humoral hypercalcemia of malignancy, respectively [86]. Some rare causes are granulomatous disorders, such as sarcoidosis, which produce 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D. Hereditary defects in any of the calcium-regulating hormones, the most common of which is FHH, familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia (which is usually due to a mutation in the CaSR [87]) can also, though rarely, be the cause of hypercalcemia. Renal failure can be complicated by secondary hyperparathyroidism, with or without hypercalcemia.

### Primary hyperparathyroidism

Primary hyperparathyroidism is not uncommon and is usually due to a benign adenoma in one of the parathyroid glands. Sometimes hyperplasia of several glands is seen and very rarely parathyroid carcinoma is the underlying cause.

PHPT most commonly afflicts postmenopausal women; in these, the prevalence is about two percent, but the disease can occur in both sexes at any age [88].

Classically, pHPT used to present with renal stones, osteoporosis, and constipation. To-

day, most patients are diagnosed with milder disease [60]. Neuropsychiatric and cognitive symptoms, such as lowered mood, memory impairment, muscular weakness and fatigue are common presenting symptoms of pHPT [89]. The disease can have a mild and protracted course, but long-term studies suggest that pHPT carries an increased risk of osteoporosis, cardiovascular disease and possibly also cancer [90].

Treatment consists of surgical removal of the diseased gland(s). In experienced hands, this has a success rate of 95–99% with minimal morbidity and almost no mortality. Since symptoms are sometimes diffuse, the policy on whom to treat has been controversial. A recent NIH guideline states that only symptomatic individuals or those with serum calcium above 2.85 mmol/l should be offered surgery [89]. Others have advocated surgery for everyone with the disease, citing the excellent results achieved by surgery [91].

## Humoral hypercalcemia of malignancy

A common complication of advanced cancer is hypercalcemia, so called humoral hypercalcemia of malignancy, HHM. This is usually caused by paraneoplastic production of PTHrP, and in fact, this condition led to the discovery of that peptide [92]. HHM is a common complication of advanced breast cancer, perhaps reflecting the physiologic importance of PTHrP expression in the lactating breast [93].

### Vitamin D deficiency

Defining optimal vitamin D intake and serum 25OHD levels has been controversial [62]. Severe vitamin D deficiency causes rickets, a serious bone disease characterised by abnormal mineralisation. Until recently, recommendations on vitamin D intake and serum 25OHD levels were based on the amount

needed to cure rickets [94], which roughly corresponds to 25OHD levels of about 27.5 nmol/L [75].

However, recently, the importance of vitamin D for organs and systems outside the skeleton has been highlighted [63]. Researchers have employed several different methods to define sufficient vitamin D levels based on physiologic, clinical and experimental data. For instance, it was shown that intestinal calcium absorption is optimal at 25OHD levels of approximately 80 nmol/L [95]. Another way of defining 25OHD-sufficiency is by examining the optimal concentration for the enzyme responsible for converting 25OHD into the active metabolite, 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D. This concentration, the  $K_m$ , is around 100 nmol/L [63].

Yet another way has been through measuring PTH. Since PTH is inversely correlated with 25OHD, an increase in 25OHD leads to a decrease in PTH, up to a 25OHD level of about 78 nmol/L [96], where PTH levels plateau.

Using multiple clinical outcomes, such as bone and oral health, fall tendency, and prevention of colon cancer, a recent review concluded that 25OHD levels of at least 75-100 nmol/L were required [97].

Thus, based on physiological, clinical and experimental reasoning, several authors agree that 25OHD levels of at least 75 nmol/ L are needed [98] for vitamin D sufficiency. With this definition, vitamin D deficiency is widespread [62, 99], affecting the majority of Swedes, at least in winter [100]. Risk factors for vitamin D insufficiency include poor diet and lack of exposure to sunshine. Risk groups thus include the elderly, institutionalised people, and immigrants. Treatment is simple, by oral substitution. There is currently no consensus on optimal dose but most authors conclude that substantially higher intakes than those currently recommended are needed [94, 99].

## Calcium, vitamin D, PTH and breast cancer

### Experimental studies

#### Calcium

Increasing calcium concentrations decreases proliferation and increases differentiation in breast cancer cell lines in vitro [13]. The calcium-sensing-receptor, CaSR, is expressed both in normal [23] and malignant breast cells [24] and its expression seems to be correlated with skeletal metastasis [24, 25], which could indicate a relationship between serum calcium and tumour aggressiveness. Extracellular calcium downregulates the estrogen receptor in breast cancer cells, and this is mediated by the CaSR [101], which could also imply an association between serum calcium and tumour aggressiveness. It has also been reported that calcium releases the growth inhibition of 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D on breast cancer cells [102], indicating a possible tumour promoting effect of extracellular calcium.

#### Vitamin D

Both the vitamin D receptor, the VDR and the converting enzyme, the 1- $\alpha$ -hydroxylase, are expressed and dynamically regulated in the normal mammary gland [4]. Experimental studies have shown that 1,25OH2D can inhibit cellular proliferation, induce apoptosis and inhibit angiogenesis in both normal and malignant breast cells [13]. More specifically, 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> has been shown to reduce the proliferation of MCF-7 and BT-20 cell lines regardless of their sex steroid receptor status [103]. Experiments on induced mammary tumours in Sprague Dawley rats found that 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> given at non toxic doses reduced the tumour proliferation [103]. Furthermore, studies with mice lacking VDRs, so-called knock-outs, showed that these had abnormal ductal morphologic features, increased incidence of preneoplastic lesions and accelerated mammary tumour development [4]. 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D has also been shown to arrest cell cycling, thus inhibiting proliferation [104]. However, doses needed to achieve these antitumoral properties are much higher than those usually found in the circulation [4].

#### PTH and PTHrP

PTH and PTHrP share the same receptor, PTH-receptor 1, PTHR1 [105], which is expressed both in normal and malignant breast tissue [106]. The expression of PTHR1 in breast cancer cells promotes their autocrine proliferation [21]. Both PTH and PTHrP have carcinogenic and tumour promoting effects [19–21, 106–108]. PTHrP is also related to breast cancer aggressiveness in that its expression in breast cancer predicts future bone metastasis [109, 110] and correlates with poor prognosis [111].

PTHrP is often expressed in bone metastases [112]. Extracellular calcium increases the production of PTHrP in breast cancer cell lines, and it is been suggested that serum calcium participates in a vicious circle, where PTHrP-induced bone resorption raises serum calcium, which then acts to further increase PTHrP production [24].

## Epidemiological and clinical studies

#### Calcium

Studies on dietary calcium and breast cancer incidence have generally found negative correlations. Some of these studies have been hospital based case-control studies, with potential confounding, and others have been small and/or not controlled for known risk factors of breast cancer, reviewed by Cui and Rohan [13]. This review concluded that the potential association between dietary calcium and

breast cancer risk is uncertain and needs further investigation.

Two cohort studies found that serum calcium and untreated hypercalcemia were both positively associated with an increased risk of death during a follow-up of 10.8 and 14 years respectively [113, 114].

Prior to the current thesis there has been no prospective cohort study on serum calcium and breast cancer incidence.

#### Vitamin D

Ecological studies have found higher breast cancer incidence in sun poor regions [115] and inverse relations between sun exposure and breast cancer risk [13]. On the other hand, studies comparing intake of vitamin D with breast cancer risk have been inconclusive [13].

Cross-sectional case-control studies have indicated a protective effect of serum 25OHD levels in breast cancer [116–118]. Three prospective case-control studies have found a weak, statistically non-significant negative association between 25OHD levels and breast cancer risk [15–17]. On the other hand, a randomised trial found a reduction of breast cancer incidence in postmenopausal women treated with vitamin D and calcium supplements [9]. In that trial, there was also a statistically significant negative association between 25OHD levels and cancer risk.

The risk of breast cancer in relation to  $1,25\mathrm{OH}_2\mathrm{D}$  has been investigated in at least three prospective studies [15, 16, 119], with weak and inconsistent findings, none of which were statistically significant.

#### PTH

At least four record-linkage studies have found a weak positive correlation between risk of breast cancer and primary hyperparathyroidism [1–3, 18]. Three of these [1, 2, 18] linked data on surgery for pHPT with cancer incidence in the Swedish Cancer Registry. Analyses were based on a large number of pHPT patients, ranging from 4,163 to 9,835. Standardised incidence ratios (SIRs) for breast cancer in treated pHPT were calculated and found to be 1.27–1.44. One study [3] linked pHPT diagnoses in the Danish national inpatient registry with the Danish national cancer registry and found an SIR of 1.43.

## Materials and methods

## The City of Malmö – population at risk

Malmö is the third-largest city in Sweden, with a population of 280,801 as of 1<sup>st</sup> January, 2008 [120]. It is situated in one of the regions with the highest breast cancer incidence in Sweden – 178/100,000 as compared to the average in Sweden of 154/100,000 [40]. Incidence increased when mammography was introduced in a screening trial in 1976, and again when screening was made available for all women aged 50–69 years in 1990 [40].

## The Malmö Preventive Project – MPP

The Malmö Preventive Project was established in 1974. It invited participation by entire birth-year cohorts of Malmö residents (in females the birth-year-cohorts of 1926, 1928, 1930, 1931, 1932, 1934–1936, 1938, 1941, 1942 and 1949). It was directed against cardiovascular diseases, diabetes mellitus and alcohol abuse. In an outpatient clinic, participants filled out a comprehensive questionnaire containing 260 questions using a computer. Questions centred on family history of cardiovascular disease, hypertension and diabetes; smoking habits and signs of high alcohol consumption; physical activity and socioeconomic factors. The questionnaire was

revised several times during the project.

Subjects had their weight and height measured when wearing light indoor clothing and BMI was calculated (kg/m²). Blood pressure and pulse rate were measured twice after ten minutes rest in the supine position. Routine blood tests were taken, including electrolytes, liver enzymes, hemoglobin, creatinine, triglycerides and cholesterol.

Individuals at risk (for example, smokers, those who were obese, those with high alcohol consumption) and those with signs and symptoms of disease were offered individualised advice and treatment in a nearby unit, with referral to specialists when needed [121].

When the department closed in 1992, 10,902 women had been examined [122] corresponding to an overall attendance rate of 70%.

## The Malmö Diet and Cancer Study – MDCS

This cohort was set up as an epidemiological project to study the association between dietary factors and cancer incidence [123]. Between 1991 and 1996 it recruited men and women in Malmö born between 1923 and 1950. Out of a population of 74,138 subjects, 68,905 eligible individuals were invited. A total of 28,098 respondents (40.8%) completed baseline examination, which included dietary assessment, a self-administered questionnaire, anthropometric measuring and collection of blood samples. The questionnaire assessed socioeconomic factors and life-style factors, medications, and previous disease, but also included questions on subjective well-being, weight changes and physical activity [124]. In all, 17,035 women completed all study parts [124].

Dietary assessment consisted of a menu book, a diet history questionnaire and a dietary interview. In the menu book, participants recorded meals, beverages and dietary supplements over seven consecutive days. Data from the menu book, the questionnaire and interview were coded and converted into nutrient intake data [125]. Height, weight, waist and hip circumferences were measured by a trained nurse. BMI was calculated as kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Even in the planning stage, great care was taken to ensure proper registration, maintenance and handling of biological specimens linked to the cohort, such as blood and serum samples [126], which were stored at -80°C [127].

### Study populations

Papers I, II and III are all based on the MPP cohort, which in total comprises 10,902 women. In papers I and III, information on reproductive factors including menopausal status was considered necessary for analyses. Items in the baseline questionnaire focussing on reproductive factors were introduced in April 1983. Women included in the project from this date and onwards and who had given information on their menopausal status were selected for analysis in papers I and III (n=8,051). Serum calcium had been measured in 8,004 of these. A total of 157 women with prevalent invasive breast cancer at baseline were excluded. Papers I and III are therefore based on 7,847 women.

In paper II, all women examined following April 1983 were selected (n=8,161), accepting the fact that some of these had no information on menopausal status. Out of these, 8,114 had information on serum calcium levels and this group was used for analysis in paper II.

In paper IV, 766 incident breast cancer cases were identified within the MDCS, and 764 out of them had blood samples drawn at baseline. Incidence density matching, using age as the underlying time scale, was used in order to select one control for every case. This meant that individuals with incident breast cancer, i.e. cases, could themselves serve as controls for cases which had been diagnosed earlier. Matching criteria were calendar time at inclusion (+/– 15 days), menopausal sta-

tus (pre- vs. peri-/post) and age at inclusion (+/- 2 years).

The narrow time span for time of inclusion, i.e. time of blood donation, was given high priority, as 25OHD levels have a marked seasonal variation. In all, 760 case-control pairs were exactly matched according to the above criteria. Age at baseline was relaxed to  $\pm 1/2$  years in 2 pairs, and to  $\pm 1/2$  years in 2 pairs.

Controls were originally matched to cases at a 2:1 ratio, but only one control for each case was used in the laboratory analyses. The rationale for matching on two controls was to be able to use another control when there was no serum available for the first. Following sample retrieval, thirteen individuals had insufficient amounts of serum. Nine were cases and could not be replaced, leaving four controls. One pre-matched control was already part of another case-control pair. In all, three new individuals replaced three original controls. Finally, 1,483 unique individuals were included in the study, corresponding to 1,528 observations (764 case-control pairs).

## Laboratory analyses

Investigations in papers I–III are based on results of blood samples drawn and analysed at inclusion. In the morning, after an overnight fast, all subjects gave a blood sample, which was centrifuged and analysed immediately. Calcium was measured photometrically by the laboratory at the Dept. of Clinical Chemistry, University Hospital of Malmö, on a PRISMA multi-channel autoanalyser (Clinicon AB, Bromma, Sweden). The coefficient of variation (CV) was 1.52% [128]. The reference value for adult women for serum calcium during this period was 2.20–2.60 mmol/L.

In paper IV, serum from cases and controls was retrieved from the MDCS biobank. Samples had not been previously thawed. Serum was analysed for 25OHD<sub>2</sub>, 25OHD<sub>3</sub>, PTH, calcium, phosphate, creatinine and albumin. Case-control pairs were analysed in a random

sequence with regard to the case-control order and with regard to time of baseline examination. Cases and controls in the same pairs were always examined in the same batch, except for one control that had to be replaced, as described above.

25OHD<sub>2</sub> and 25OHD<sub>3</sub> were analysed with high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) and PTH with the Immulite® 2000 Intact PTH immunoassay (Diagnostic Products Corporation, Los Angeles, CA). Total calcium was analysed by neutral carrier ionselective electrode [129], albumin by rate immunenephelometry [130], and phosphate by a colorimetric method by complexing with amonniummolybdate and creatinine by the Jaffé method. These analyses were carried out with the Synchron LX System (Beckman Coulter Inc., Fullerton, CA.)

All laboratory measurements were normally distributed except for PTH. CVs were for 25OHD2 8.0% at 65 nmol/L and 6.8% at 190 nmol/L, for 25OHD<sub>3</sub> 8.5% at 70 nmol/ L and 7.1% at 210 nmol/L, for PTH 4% at 5.9 pmol/L and at 40.3 pmol/L, for calcium 2% at 2.00 mmol/L and at 3.10 mmol/L, for albumin 4% at 25 g/L and 2% at 48 g/L, for creatinine 12% at 34 µmol/L and 4% at 129 µmol/L, and for phosphate 3% at 0.66 mmol/L and 5% at 2.5 mmol/L. The laboratory of the department of Clinical Chemistry at Malmö University Hospital is accredited by Swedac (The Swedish Board for Accreditation and Conformity Assessment) and takes part in the external quality assurance program of Instand e.V., Düsseldorf, Germany.

## Cancer endpoints and vital status

The Swedish Cancer Registry was set up in 1958. By law, all malignant tumours and certain benign tumours diagnosed in Sweden must be reported to the registry [40].

Breast cancer cases, invasive and in situ, were retrieved by record linkage with the

Swedish Cancer Registry and the Southern Swedish Regional Cancer Registry. The national register is complete, with a one-year delay. The Southern Swedish Regional Tumour Registry has provided up-to-date information on cancer incidence in the south of Sweden since it was established in 1977 [131].

All deaths and causes thereof must be reported to the Swedish Cause-of-Death registry (SCDR), which was set up in 1911. It contains, among other things, the deceased individual's name, the civil registration number, cause of death, and date of death [40].

The Swedish Cancer Registry and the Swedish Cause of Death Registry have been validated and found to have a completeness of about 99% [131]. The SCDR has a delay of about two years, and up-to-date vital status was also retrieved from the Population Registry.

## Histopathologic examinations

In paper III, tumour samples were re-evaluated by two senior pathologists. Histologic type was determined according to the WHO classification [43]. Tubular formation, nuclear atypia and mitotic index were determined according to the Nottingham classification, as described previously [44], where each parameter is graded from one to three. The presence or absence of axillary lymph node metastasis, and tumour size in mm were determined from pathology reports.

#### Statistical methods

Multivariate analysis was used to determine relative risks (RR) and odds ratios (OR) of breast cancer in different quartiles of calcium (papers I and IV) and 25OHD and PTH (paper IV). Quartile cut-points for these analytes were based on the distribution for women in the study cohort excluding those with prevalent cancer of any site (not including cervical

cancer in situ) in paper I, and in controls in paper IV. In paper III, the cohort was dichotomised (due to having small subgroups) based on serum calcium levels using the same criteria as in paper I. Cox's proportional hazards analysis was used to estimate relative risks of breast cancer in different calcium quartiles in paper I and breast cancer subgroups in paper III. In paper IV, unconditional and conditional logistic regression was used to calculate odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals (CI). Potential confounders and known risk factors of breast cancer were introduced as covariates. Missing covariates were coded as separate categories for categorical factors, and means for all subjects with data were used for subjects with missing values on albumin, creatinine and phosphate. Separate analyses were made in pre- vs. peri-/postmenopausal women and in different strata of BMI, i.e. BMI < 25 vs.  $BMI \ge 25$  (overweight and obese women). All analyses were repeated, excluding cases diagnosed within two years following baseline examination.

In paper II, the association between serum calcium and reproductive and selected lifestyle factors was investigated. Means of serum calcium were calculated in different categories of the studied factors. An ANOVA and a Student's t-test with Bonferroni's correction were used to test differences in calcium levels between different categories of the studied factors. All tests were two-sided and a *p*-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

All women were dichotomised into 'low' (≤2.34 mmol/L) and 'high' (≥2.35 mmol/L) calcium levels, the median of the study cohort. Then, ORs with 95% CIs were calculated for 'high' vs. 'low' calcium levels in relation to the studied factors, using an unconditional logistic regression analysis. The second model was adjusted for age and a final model included all studied factors. Calcium levels were approximately normally distributed and the relation between different factors and calcium levels

was further investigated using multiple linear regression analysis. All categorical variables in the linear regression analysis were transformed and entered as multiple categorical variables. Partial regression coefficients ( $\beta_i$ ) with 95% confidence intervals, adjusted for all other factors, were reported.

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS versions 13.0 through 16.0 (SPSS Inc. Chicago, Ill.).

#### Ethical considerations

Ethical approval was given for all projects included in the thesis (LU 51-90, LU 639-03, Dnr 652/2005 and Dnr 23/2007). Participants in the MPP were not recruited primarily for research, but with the goal of reducing their risk and treating disease. The MDCS had a primary research objective and subjects gave informed consent at entry. Additionally, for the purpose of the present analyses, former participants in the MPP and the MDCS were informed of the aim and of the possibility of withdrawing from the study, by advertising in local newspapers.

In paper I–III, no new information on subjects was generated, and results were not deemed to have implications on an individual level. Thus, it can be considered that participants suffered no risk of harm due to these studies.

In paper IV, the situation was different as blood donated by subjectively healthy individuals was analysed and new information was obtained. As expected, there were incidental findings, with blood chemistry measurements outside the reference range, potentially indicating disease. It was decided not to inform study participants of these incidental findings. This was based on current ethical recommendations [132]. There were several reasons. First, these incidental findings related to a situation 12–17 years ago, and their current relevance to participating individuals could be questioned. Second, a proportion of all analy-

ses in a healthy population are expected to be outside the reference limit, for example the reference limits for laboratory analyses often include only 95% of all individuals. That is, a false-positive rate of five percent can be expected. Third, participants in the MDCS agreed to participate in a research project; they were not informed that they were to be contacted considering every subsequent analysis. Fourth, since individuals only donated blood once, and the sensitivity and specificity of the tests were not 100%, this would require additional contacts with former participants for repeated tests. Repeated contacts, the risk of false-positive findings, and additional medical examinations could, hence, have led to psychological and physical distress.

### Results

### Paper I

In premenopausal women, breast cancer incidence was found to be negatively associated with calcium levels and RRs (95% CI) in the 2<sup>nd</sup>, 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> calcium quartile as compared to the 1<sup>st</sup> were 0.92 (0.65–1.31), 0.88 (0.59–1.30) and 0.56 (0.32–0.99). In peri/postmenopausal overweight women, breast cancer incidence was positively associated with calcium levels, the RRs in the 2<sup>nd</sup>, 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> calcium quartiles as compared to the first were 2.74 (1.25–5.98), 3.10 (1.44–6.68), and 2.72 (1.24–5.94).

## Paper II

Calcium levels were strongly and inversely associated with use of oral contraception and use of HRT, with correlation coefficients (95% CI) of -2.17 (-3.05 to -1.30) and -4.19 (-4.77 to -3.62), respectively. Peri-/postmeno-pausality was positively associated with calcium levels, with a correlation coefficient of 3.88 (3.35–4.40). Calcium levels also showed

a weak but statistically significant positive association with nulliparity, BMI<20 and BMI>25 and baseline examination in spring and autumn.

### Paper III

In women with BMI≥25, calcium was significantly associated with aggressive tumours as determined by severe nuclear atypia, with an OR (95% CI) of 2.06 (1.10–3.86) for 'high' (above median) calcium as compared to 'low' calcium. This was also seen for mitosis and tubular formation, but for these subgroups, the relative risk did not reach statistical significance.

Calcium was associated with a significantly higher risk of nodal metastasis vs. no nodal metastasis in premenopausal women; the OR (95% CI) for 'high' as compared to 'low' calcium was 1.88 (1.04–3.38). Similarly, in premenopausal women the heterogeneity analysis revealed that 'high' calcium was associated with a higher risk of T1N1 tumours as compared to 'high' calcium in relation to T1N0 tumours.

## Paper IV

In the overall analysis, there was a weak negative association between 25OHD<sub>3</sub> levels and breast cancer risk, but this association was not statistically significant, and it was less pronounced in the adjusted analysis. The association between total 25OHD (25OHD<sub>2</sub>+D<sub>3</sub>) and breast cancer was even weaker. The association between PTH levels and breast cancer risk was close to unity. Calcium was positively associated with breast cancer risk in the multivariate analysis, but this association did not reach statistical significance. ORs were also similar in matched and unmatched analyses, indicating that unmatched analyses were appropriate.

When stratifying for menopausal status and BMI, there was a significant positive asso-

ciation between serum calcium and breast cancer in overweight and premenopausal women, respectively.

In women with  $25OHD_3$  <75 nmol/L, PTH and calcium were positively associated with breast cancer risk, but confidence intervals were wide and statistically non-significant. There was a weak, statistically non-significant, negative association between  $25OHD_3$  and breast cancer in women with PTH levels above the median. Risk estimates related to different 25OHD and PTH quartiles were similar in analyses stratified for calcium levels below vs. above the median.

## General discussion

The current thesis suggests that calcium levels affect breast cancer risk, and that this risk is modified by menopausal status and obesity. Moreover, serum calcium levels are clearly associated with age, BMI, use of OC, HRT, and menopausal status – all established risk factors for breast cancer.

There may be a weak, inverse association between 25OHD levels and breast cancer, but this association was not statistically significant. There was no association between PTH levels and breast cancer risk.

Results on the relationship between serum calcium and breast cancer were most concordant in overweight women (BMI≥25). In premenopausal women, there was a negative association between serum calcium and breast cancer risk in the MPP cohort (paper I), and a positive association in the MDCS case-control study (paper IV). Study populations differed in some accounts: MPP subjects were younger at inclusion, had a longer mean time from inclusion to diagnosis of breast cancer and were younger at diagnosis than subjects in the MDCS. This may be of special interest where subjects are defined as pre/postmenopausal at baseline.

## Serum calcium levels and reproductive factors

Both younger (40–45 years) and higher age groups (>55 years) had higher calcium levels as compared to women aged 45–50 years, even when adjusting for menopausal status, suggesting that age has an independent influence on calcium levels. BMI was also significantly associated with serum calcium levels, with lean and overweight women having higher calcium levels than women with BMI between 20 and 25.

The present work also confirmed previous studies on reproductive factors and calcium levels, with an inverse association between conditions characterized by high estrogen levels and serum calcium levels. This has been found in studies on menopausal status [26, 133–135], phases of the menstrual cycle [136], use of OC and HRT [133, 137] and pregnancy [138]. Experimental studies also indicate that serum calcium levels drop when estrogens are administered [80]. The exact mechanisms remain unclear, but the effect might be mediated through a change in skeletal sensitivity to PTH [84, 85, 139–141].

## Serum calcium and breast cancer

Calcium is an important intracellular messenger, involved in processes related to proliferation, apoptosis and cell signalling. The calcium-sensing-receptor, CaSR, is expressed both in normal [23] and malignant breast cells [24] and its expression is correlated with skeletal metastasis [24, 25]. Increasing levels of calcium can, in experimental models, increase cell differentiation, decrease proliferation, induce apoptosis and down-modulate invasion [142–144], all of which would have tumour protective effects. On the other hand, a case-control study found a positive association between calcium concentrations in benign breast tissue and subsequent breast cancer risk [145],

and one study found that increasing calcium concentrations released the growth inhibition of 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D on breast cancer cells [102]. Thus, data from *in vitro* studies are not consistent regarding calcium and tumour growth and further investigation is warranted of the present findings that serum calcium levels are positively associated with breast cancer risk in overweight and/or postmenopausal women, and with breast cancer aggressiveness in premenopausal and/or overweight women.

#### Vitamin D and breast cancer

The biologically active form of vitamin D, 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D, is a steroid hormone that binds to vitamin D receptors, VDRs [63] which are found in both normal and malignant breast tissue. 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D has been shown to inhibit cellular proliferation, induce apoptosis and inhibit angiogenesis [13], mechanisms that may link vitamin D to tumour protective effects.

The risk of breast cancer in relation to 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D has been investigated in at least three studies [15, 16, 119], with all studies finding no statistically significant associations. However, 1,25OH<sub>2</sub>D has a short half-life and shows great intra-individual variation; thus it is generally considered that 25OHD better mirrors physiologic vitamin D status [14].

Cross-sectional case-control studies have indicated a protective effect of 25OHD in breast cancer [116–118]. A randomised trial found a reduction of breast cancer incidence in postmenopausal women treated with vitamin D and calcium supplements [9]. In that trial, there was also a statistically significant negative association between 25OHD levels and breast cancer risk.

The present prospective study (paper IV) found a negative association between 25OHD levels and breast cancer risk, but the association was weak and not statistically significant, which was in line with previous prospective investigations [15–17]. It is possible that neither of these studies, including the present, had suf-

ficient statistical power to detect a true negative association between 25OHD and breast cancer risk and that a real modest inverse relation exists. Possibly, meta-analysis by pooling of data might clarify this issue.

#### PTH and breast cancer

Experimental studies suggest that PTH has carcinogenic and tumour promoting effects [19-21]. At least four record-linkage studies have found a positive association between risk of breast cancer and primary hyperparathyroidism (pHPT), a condition with high PTH and often high serum calcium levels [1– 3, 18]. Hence, a positive association between PTH levels and breast cancer risk could be expected, but no such relation was observed in the present study (paper IV). One reason for this discrepancy could be that PTH only causes an increased risk of breast cancer at levels clearly above the normal range, as is seen in most patients with pHPT. In the present study, only eight cases and six controls had both PTH and calcium levels above the reference range, which made statistical analysis impossible in these cases. Approximately nine percent of both cases and controls had PTH levels above normal, signifying possible pHPT. In an additional analysis calculating OR for breast cancer in these subjects, compared to those that had PTH values below the upper reference limit, the OR was close to one and did not have statistical significance.

### Methodological issues

## Exposure and endpoint measurements

It may be questioned whether it is appropriate to use a single determination for levels of calcium, 25OHD and PTH.

Under normal physiological conditions, total calcium is very stable. Both short-term

[146] and long-term [147] intra-individual variation are low. Even though serum calcium levels rise with menopause [26, 148] there seems to be significant 'tracking', i.e. the ranking of calcium levels between individuals tends to remain the same before and after menopause [135]. Although inter-individual differences in absolute values for serum calcium are low, these differences are still considered important when large groups are compared. Thus, it can be argued that a single measurement of serum calcium is a useful marker for differences with regard to calcium homeostasis.

It has been claimed that free (ionised) calcium provides the best indication of calcium status because it is biologically active and tightly regulated by calcium-regulating hormones. Total calcium levels are affected by plasma protein levels, notably albumin. In the MPP cohort (papers I-III), adjusting for serum albumin was not possible since albumin levels were only known for about a quarter (n=2,048) of the study population. However, total calcium has been considered a good measure of calcium homeostasis in outpatients and healthy individuals where albumin will be expected to be in the normal range [149]. Albumin was normally distributed among those with known albumin levels, and only seventy-five women (3.7%) had an albumin level outside the normal reference range (36-45 g/L). All samples were also collected in a standardised manner, which minimised differences in albumin levels due to fasting status or diurnal variation [113]. Following this, total serum calcium can be considered a useful and valid measurement of calcium status in this study population.

In the MDCS cohort (paper IV), correction of serum calcium according to albumin was possible since albumin levels were known for practically all subjects. However, there are several correction methods and no single one has been proved to be superior to the other. Instead, it was decided to adjust for albumin (along with creatinine and phosphate, which may also affect calcium levels) as continuous

covariates in the multivariate analyses.

Regarding 25OHD, it is reassuring that a recent cohort study measured 25OHD on two occasions, three years apart, and found a high correlation between levels [150]. It was also possible to measure 25OHD $_2$  and 25OHD $_3$  separately, improving precision. Cases and controls were closely matched to calendar time for blood sample, minimising variation in 25OHD levels due to sun exposure.

Data on PTH has been scarce but recently, two publications have addressed short-term (up to six weeks) variation. Intra-individual total, i.e. analytical plus biological, CV in serum PTH levels was about 25% [151, 152]. PTH also shows a relatively large circadian fluctuation with a two-fold difference in nadir to peak concentrations [152]. In the MDCS, the time of day for blood sampling had not been recorded.

If these reported variations are correct, biological intra-individual variations of PTH levels are quite high, which may be expected to lead to a non-differential misclassification of PTH levels. This may, hence, lead to an attenuation of true risks in the statistical analysis. Considering the findings in the present study, it is possible that this potential misclassification has obscured true, underlying associations between breast cancer risk and PTH levels in paper IV.

Incomplete follow-up and poor quality of endpoint data may affect the results. However, the Swedish Cancer Registry and the Swedish Cause of Death Registry have been validated and found to have a completeness of about 99% [131].

### Representativity

It may be asked whether breast cancer cases in these cohorts can be considered representative of the whole breast cancer population. The study cohorts mainly comprised middle-aged women. In the MPP, 30% and in the MDCS, 60% of the women invited to the health ex-

amination did not attend. As there was no information about exposure to the studied risk factors in women outside this cohort, absolute risks and incidence rates may not be applicable to all age groups or to the general population. However, as there was a wide distribution of calcium, 25OHD and PTH levels, it was possible to make internal comparisons between subjects with low and high values respectively, i.e. to estimate relative risks. Results were probably not considerably affected by selection bias.

#### Confounding

In all papers, there was information on most established risk factors for breast cancer, and results were similar when adjusting for these factors. Thus, results were probably not confounded by most known risk factors for breast cancer.

We could not adjust for heredity in any of the papers since there was no information on this factor. The quality of the variable for physical activity in the MDCS is currently being validated, and it was decided not to include this variable in the analyses. In papers I, II and III, it would have been valuable to have information on factors related to calcium metabolism, such as 25OHD, PTH and albumin levels, dietary information and sun exposure.

In paper IV, it was possible to adjust for factors related to calcium metabolism, such as 25OHD, PTH, creatinine, albumin and phosphate. Dietary information was not included in the multivariate analysis, the rationale being that a potential association between dietary intakes of vitamin D and calcium and breast cancer risk is probably mediated by the serum levels of these factors. This would make it inappropriate to include dietary intake in the same model as the serum levels.

In all papers, multiple analyses were done, and chance findings cannot be completely ruled out. However, narrow confidence intervals, large cohorts, many cases and concor-

dant findings, at least concerning the association between breast cancer and serum calcium in women with BMI>25 suggest that the findings are not due to chance alone.

In all papers, associations between outcomes and predictors (for example breast cancer and serum calcium levels) are based on a single measurement. Biological and analytical variation may non-differentially obscure any true, underlying associations. This might be a problem especially when analytes are known to vary to a high degree, as seems to be the case with PTH [152]. It is therefore possible that a true cause-effect relationship between PTH and breast cancer exists, but that it could not be detected in the present study (paper IV).

#### Cause and effect

The epidemiological methods used in this thesis make it possible to test whether biologically founded hypotheses regarding causality are corroborated by statistically significant associations. As has been discussed, there are several biological explanations for the observed findings. However, it truly needs to be emphasised that it is impossible to make any inferences as to causality on the basis of the statistical associations in this thesis. Furthermore, some of the present work might be characterised as hypothesis-generating or exploratory, specifically paper III, and the results, even when statistically significant, need to be confirmed in other clinical and experimental studies.

## Chance findings and statistical power

The results obtained by the statistical tests used in this thesis are all uncertain to some extent. The precision of tests is stated, for example in terms of *p*-values and confidence intervals, CI. The more tests that are performed, the higher is the risk that some observed statistical associations are due to chance alone. For instance, the positive association between serum calci-

um and breast cancer risk in premenopausal women in paper IV should be regarded with some caution since it was based on a small number of cases, the CI was broad, there was no clear dose-relationship and, indeed, results were in conflict with those obtained in paper I. Another example is paper III, where several subgroup analyses were performed, with few cases in each group, and correspondingly some CIs were wide.

However, when statistical associations are strong, i.e. with narrow CIs and distinct dose-response-relationships, and there are biologically sound explanations for a cause-effect relationship, it is reasonable to assume that observed associations are real. For example, results were consistent and showed a clear dose-response relationship regarding the positive association between calcium and breast cancer incidence and aggressiveness in overweight women (paper III and IV), suggesting a nonrandom finding.

Another issue is statistical power, i.e. the potential of the tests to detect any true, underlying associations. The larger the number of individuals (and cases), the more accurate the statistical predictions become. If real associations are weak, a larger number of observations are needed to detect them. When associations between exposure and outcome are inverse in different groups, for instance the relationship between serum calcium in pre-vs. peri/postmenopausal women, it makes sense to stratify the cohort according to this characteristic. Stratifying, however, splits the cohorts into smaller groups, which decreases statistical power. Hence, real associations might not be detected, due to statistical uncertainty. For example, the hypothesis that vitamin D protects against breast cancer is supported by both clinical and experimental data. However, the association between 25OHD levels and breast cancer was not statistically significant in either the present study (paper IV) or in three previous prospective case-control studies [15–17]. Gathering more observations, for example by pooling data from different studies, might achieve the needed statistical power.

#### Reverse causality

If breast cancer itself causes alteration of calcium, vitamin D and PTH levels, for example due to production of pHPT as in hypercalcemia of malignancy, this could lead to a spurious association between levels of these factors and breast cancer risk. In this thesis, subjects with prevalent breast cancer at baseline were excluded from study groups.

Hypercalcemia of malignancy usually presents with advanced disease [86], and such patients would probably have been diagnosed with breast cancer at baseline and would, thus have been excluded. Furthermore, additional analyses excluding cases diagnosed within two years of baseline inclusion from the analyses in order to exclude cases with subclinical disease, did not substantially change results. Hence, it is unlikely that reverse causality plays any role in the findings of the present thesis.

## Implications and future studies

The findings that serum calcium is positively associated with breast cancer incidence and aggressiveness (papers I, III and IV) is in line with previous epidemiological studies that found positive associations with calcium levels and increased mortality [114]. However, some experimental studies on calcium and breast cancer indicate that calcium has tumour protective effects *in vitro* [85, 142]. Thus, the findings of this thesis concerning serum calcium and breast cancer must be confirmed in future studies. However, the results suggest that calcium might be causally related to breast cancer induction and/or growth.

The present results for 25OHD and breast cancer risk were similar to those reported by others [15–17], and the results for calcium and breast cancer risk in overweight women

were similar in the two cohorts included in the current thesis.

The lack of any association between PTH and breast cancer risk might have several explanations; there may indeed be no true association, but it may also be that the large biovariability in PTH levels [151, 152] attenuates any true associations; or that PTH only has a tumour promoting effect above a certain level, i.e. a threshold effect.

## Conclusions

- Serum calcium is positively associated with breast cancer risk in overweight and peri-/ postmenopausal women (paper I and IV).
   Serum calcium seems to be associated with breast cancer risk in premenopausal women. The exact relationship remains to be determined. One study showed a negative association (paper I), whereas another study showed a positive association (paper IV).
- Premenopausal status, use of oral contraceptives and hormone-replacement therapy, are negatively associated with serum calcium levels. BMI is significantly associated with serum calcium levels, with lean and overweight women having higher calcium levels than women with BMI between 20 and 25. Season is also associated with serum calcium levels, with higher levels during spring and autumn (paper II).
- Pre-diagnostic serum calcium is positively associated with increased tumour aggressiveness (the degree of cellular atypia, rate of proliferation and propensity to metastasise) in premenopausal and/or overweight women (paper III).

 There may be a weak, inverse association between 25OHD and breast cancer, but this association was not statistically significant. There was no association between PTH and breast cancer risk (paper IV).

## Acknowledgments

I am deeply grateful to my mentor, supervisor and friend Jonas Manjer, for his patience, generosity, creativity and never-ending support. I also wish to express my gratitude to my co-supervisors Anne-Greth and Lennart Bondeson, who first came up with the hypotheses underlying this thesis and brought me into contact with Jonas Manjer. Secretary Anita Alm has been most helpful throughout the whole project. I am also indebted to my co-authors, especially pathologists Janne Malina and Lola Anagnostaki. Last but perhaps most I want to thank my family – my dear wife Camilla, our wonderful children, and my parents for their love and sympathy.

## **Funding**

Financial support was received from The Swedish Research Council (K2007-69X-20487-01-3), The Gunnar Nilsson Cancer Foundation, The Ernhold Lundström Foundation, The Einar and Inga Nilsson Foundation, The Malmö University Hospital Cancer Research Fund, The Malmö University Hospital Funds and Donations, The Crafoord Foundation, The Region of Skåne, and The Mossfelt Foundation.

## Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning på svenska

Bröstcancer är den vanligaste cancerformen hos kvinnor – årligen drabbas ungefär 7 000 svenska kvinnor av sjukdomen. Trots mångårig intensiv forskning är orsakerna till sjukdomen ofullständigt kända. Ett stigande antal rapporter antyder att kalcium och dess reglerande hormoner, dvs. bisköldkörtelhormon (PTH) och vitamin D påverkar risken att få bröstcancer. Denna avhandling består av fyra delarbeten, som vart och ett har undersökt olika aspekter av detta potentiella samband.

I första delarbetet studerades risken att få bröstcancer beroende på kalciumnivå i blodprov tagna före insjuknandet. Sammanlagt nästan 8 000 kvinnor ingick i studien, och resultaten visade att hos överviktiga kvinnor efter klimakteriet ökade risken för bröstcancer med ökande kalciumnivåer i blodet. Hos kvinnor före klimakteriet var förhållandet omvänt – ökande kalciumnivåer var förknippade med lägre risk för bröstcancer.

I arbete två undersöktes samvariationen mellan kalciumnivåer och kända riskfaktorer för bröstcancer. Kalciumnivåerna var lägre hos premenopausala kvinnor (före klimakteriet), hos dem som tog p-piller eller hormonersättning, hos de yngsta och hos de äldsta samt hos dem med body mass index (BMI) mellan 20 och 25 jämfört med dem med BMI mindre än 20 och dem med BMI högre än 25.

I det tredje arbetet studerades om kalciumnivåer var relaterade till ökad risk av mer aggressiva brösttumörer, dvs. sådana med spridning till lymfkörtlar eller med en mikroskopiskt mer elakartad bild. Hos kvinnor före klimakteriet respektive hos överviktiga kvinnor var högre kalciumnivåer associerade med mer aggressiv bröstcancer.

I det fjärde arbetet undersöktes hur vitamin D-nivåer, bisköldkörtelhormonnivåer och kalciumnivåer tillsammans och var för sig påverkar bröstcancerrisken. Resultaten antyder att det är möjligt att högre vitamin D-nivåer är förknippade med en lägre bröstcancerrisk, men detta är inte statistiskt säkerställt. Däremot var högre kalciumnivåer återigen statistiskt säkerställt relaterade till en ökad risk för bröstcancer hos överviktiga kvinnor. I motsats till resultaten i första delarbetet talade analysen i arbete fyra för att premenopausala kvinnor också har en ökad bröstcancerrisk med ökande kalciumnivåer i blodet. Den statistiska styrkan av detta samband var i arbete fyra något osäkrare och fyndet måste bekräftas i andra, större studier.

Sammantaget talar dessa fyra arbeten för att kvinnor med BMI högre än 25 verkligen har en ökad risk att insjukna i bröstcancer med ökande kalciumnivåer i blodet, och att denna riskökning framför allt gäller mer aggressiv sjukdom. Avhandlingens styrka är bl.a. det stora antalet kvinnor som deltagit i studien samt det förhållandevis stora antalet cancerfall, vilket gör de statistiska analyserna överlag säkra. Ytterligare fördelar är kvalitén hos de analysmetoder som använts.

En svaghet är att kalcium, vitamin D och bisköldkörtelhormonvärdena bara mättes vid ett tillfälle och att naturligt förekommande variationer kan ha maskerat samband mellan dessa värden och bröstcancerrisk.

Fynden, att kalciumnivåer i blod hos kvinnor med BMI högre än 25 är relaterat till bröstcancerrisk och bröstcanceraggressivitet, kan emellertid, om de bekräftas av andra forskargrupper, bidra till ökad förståelse för bröstcancers uppkomst och på sikt också ge möjligheter till bättre förebyggande åtgärder och behandling.

## References

- Palmer M, Adami HO, Krusemo UB, Ljunghall S. Increased risk of malignant diseases after surgery for primary hyperparathyroidism. A nationwide cohort study. Am J Epidemiol 1988; 127:1031–1040
- Michels KB, Xue F, Brandt L, Ekbom A. Hyperparathyroidism and subsequent incidence of breast cancer. Int J Cancer 2004; 110:449–451
- Pickard AL, Gridley G, Mellemkjae L, et al. Hyperparathyroidism and subsequent cancer risk in Denmark. Cancer 2002; 95:1611–1617
- Welsh J. Vitamin D and breast cancer: insights from animal models. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 80:1721S–1724S
- Welsh J, Wietzke JA, Zinser GM, et al. Vitamin D-3 receptor as a target for breast cancer prevention. J Nutr 2003; 133:2425S–2433S
- Chen WY, Bertone-Johnson ER, Hunter DJ, Willett WC, Hankinson SE. Associations between polymorphisms in the vitamin D receptor and breast cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2005; 14:2335– 2339
- Lowe LC, Guy M, Mansi JL, et al. Plasma 25-hydroxy vitamin D concentrations, vitamin D receptor genotype and breast cancer risk in a UK Caucasian population. Eur J Cancer 2005; 41:1164–1169
- Giovannucci E. The epidemiology of vitamin D and cancer incidence and mortality: a review (United States). Cancer Causes Control 2005; 16:83–95
- Lappe JM, Travers-Gustafson D, Davies KM, Recker RR, Heaney RP. Vitamin D and calcium supplementation reduces cancer risk: results of a randomized trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2007; 85:1586–1591
- Bertone-Johnson ER. Prospective studies of dietary vitamin D and breast cancer: more questions raised than answered. Nutr Rev 2007; 65:459–466
- VanHouten JN. Calcium sensing by the mammary gland. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2005; 10:129–139
- 12. Carmeliet G, Van Cromphaut S, Daci E,

- Maes C, Bouillon R. Disorders of calcium homeostasis. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 17:529–546
- 13. Cui Y, Rohan TE. Vitamin D, calcium, and breast cancer risk: a review. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2006; 15:1427–1437
- Zerwekh JE. Blood biomarkers of vitamin D status. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 87:1087S– 1091S
- Bertone-Johnson ER, Chen WY, Holick MF, et al. Plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and risk of breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2005; 14:1991–1997
- Freedman DM, Chang SC, Falk RT, et al. Serum levels of vitamin D metabolites and breast cancer risk in the prostate, lung, colorectal, and ovarian cancer screening trial. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2008; 17:889–894
- Chlebowski RT, Johnson KC, Kooperberg C, et al. Calcium plus vitamin d supplementation and the risk of breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2008; 100:1581–1591
- Nilsson IL, Zedenius J, Yin L, Ekbom A. The association between primary hyperparathyroidism and malignancy: nationwide cohort analysis on cancer incidence after parathyroidectomy. Endocr Relat Cancer 2007; 14:135–140
- Birch MA, Carron JA, Scott M, Fraser WD, Gallagher JA. Parathyroid hormone (PTH)/ PTH-related protein (PTHrP) receptor expression and mitogenic responses in human breast cancer cell lines. Br J Cancer 1995; 72:90–95
- Linforth R, Anderson N, Hoey R, et al. Coexpression of parathyroid hormone related protein and its receptor in early breast cancer predicts poor patient survival. Clin Cancer Res 2002; 8:3172–3177
- 21. Hoey RP, Sanderson C, Iddon J, *et al.* The parathyroid hormone-related protein receptor is expressed in breast cancer bone metastases and promotes autocrine proliferation in breast carcinoma cells. Br J Cancer 2003; 88:567–573
- 22. Ramasamy I. Recent advances in physiological calcium homeostasis. Clin Chem Lab Med 2006; 44:237–273

- 23. Cheng I, Klingensmith ME, Chattopadhyay N, *et al.* Identification and localization of the extracellular calcium-sensing receptor in human breast. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1998; 83:703–707
- Sanders JL, Chattopadhyay N, Kifor O, et al. Extracellular calcium-sensing receptor expression and its potential role in regulating parathyroid hormone-related peptide secretion in human breast cancer cell lines. Endocrinology 2000; 141:4357–4364
- 25. Mihai R, Stevens J, McKinney C, Ibrahim NB. Expression of the calcium receptor in human breast cancer–a potential new marker predicting the risk of bone metastases. Eur J Surg Oncol 2006; 32:511–515
- Young MM, Nordin BE. Calcium metabolism and the menopause. Proc R Soc Med 1967; 60:1137–1138
- Nordin BE, Need AG, Morris HA, Horowitz M. Biochemical variables in pre- and postmenopausal women: reconciling the calcium and estrogen hypotheses. Osteoporos Int 1999; 9:351–357
- 28. Hamoui N, Anthone G, Crookes PF. Calcium metabolism in the morbidly obese. Obes Surg 2004; 14:9–12
- Bouillon R, Carmeliet G, Boonen S. Ageing and calcium metabolism. Baillieres Clin Endocrinol Metab 1997; 11:341–365
- Snijder MB, van Dam RM, Visser M, et al.
   Adiposity in relation to vitamin D status and parathyroid hormone levels: a population-based study in older men and women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90:4119–4123
- 31. Parikh SJ, Edelman M, Uwaifo GI, *et al.*The relationship between obesity and serum 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D concentrations in healthy adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89:1196–1199
- 32. Gaugris S, Heaney RP, Boonen S, *et al.* Vitamin D inadequacy among post-menopausal women: a systematic review. Qjm 2005; 98:667–676
- 33. Singletary SE. Rating the risk factors for breast cancer. Ann Surg 2003; 237:474–482
- 34. Lahmann PH, Hoffmann K, Allen N, *et al.* Body size and breast cancer risk: findings from the European Prospective Investiga-

- tion into Cancer And Nutrition (EPIC). Int J Cancer 2004; 111:762–771
- Manjer J, Janzon L. Covariance of breast cancer incidence with smoking-, oestrogen- and diet-related cancers in pre- and postmenopausal women in Sweden. Med Hypotheses 1999; 52:561–568
- Dal Maso L, Zucchetto A, Talamini R, et al.
   Effect of obesity and other lifestyle factors on mortality in women with breast cancer.
   Int J Cancer 2008; 123:2188–2194
- 37. Phipps AI, Malone KE, Porter PL, Daling JR, Li CI. Body size and risk of luminal, HER2-overexpressing, and triple-negative breast cancer in postmenopausal women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2008; 17:2078–2086
- Lin J, Manson JE, Lee IM, et al. Intakes of calcium and vitamin D and breast cancer risk in women. Arch Intern Med 2007; 167:1050–1059
- 39. Parkin DM, Fernandez LM. Use of statistics to assess the global burden of breast cancer. Breast J 2006; 12 Suppl 1:S70–80
- The National Board of Health and Welfare/ The Swedish Cancer Society Cancer Statistics. Stockholm, 2007. Retrieved 11 January 2009. http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/Statistik/statistik\_amne/Cancer/index.htm
- 41. Botha JL, Bray F, Sankila R, Parkin DM. Breast cancer incidence and mortality trends in 16 European countries. Eur J Cancer 2003; 39:1718–1729
- 42. Baum M, Schipper H. Fast facts Breast cancer. Health Press Limited, Oxford, 2002.
- 43. Tavassoli F, Devilee P. World Health Organization: Tumours of the Breast and Female Genital Organs (Who/IARC Classification of Tumours) IARCPress-WHO2003.
- 44. Elston CW, Ellis IO. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. Histopathology 1991; 19:403–410
- Soerjomataram I, Louwman MW, Ribot JG, Roukema JA, Coebergh JW. An overview of prognostic factors for long-term survivors of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2008; 107:309–330
- 46. Sobin LH, Wittekind C. TNM Classifica-

- tion of Malignant Tumours. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, New Jersey, 2002.
- 47. Nystrom L, Rutqvist LE, Wall S, *et al.* Breast cancer screening with mammography: overview of Swedish randomised trials. Lancet 1993; 341:973–978
- Nystrom L, Andersson I, Bjurstam N, et al. Long-term effects of mammography screening: updated overview of the Swedish randomised trials. Lancet 2002; 359:909–919
- Patani N, Mokbel K. Herceptin and breast cancer: An overview for surgeons. Surg Oncol 2008. Epub ahead of print.
- Miki Y, Swensen J, Shattuck-Eidens D, et al. A strong candidate for the breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1. Science 1994; 266:66–71
- Wooster R, Bignell G, Lancaster J, et al. Identification of the breast cancer susceptibility gene BRCA2. Nature 1995; 378:789–792
- 52. Antoniou A, Pharoah PD, Narod S, et al. Average risks of breast and ovarian cancer associated with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations detected in case series unselected for family history: a combined analysis of 22 studies. Am J Hum Genet 2003; 72:1117–1130
- Easton DF, Pooley KA, Dunning AM, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies novel breast cancer susceptibility loci. Nature 2007; 447:1087–1093
- Hannaford PC, Selvaraj S, Elliott AM, et al. Cancer risk among users of oral contraceptives: cohort data from the Royal College of General Practitioner's oral contraception study. Bmj 2007; 335:651
- 55. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Breast cancer and breastfeeding: collaborative re-analysis of individual data from 47 epidemiological studies in 30 countries, including 50302 women with breast cancer and 96973 women without the disease. Lancet 2002; 360:187–195
- Suzuki S, Kojima M, Tokudome S, et al. Effect of Physical Activity on Breast Cancer Risk: Findings of the Japan Collaborative Cohort Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2008; 17:3396–3401
- Barclay AW, Petocz P, McMillan-Price J, et al. Glycemic index, glycemic load, and chronic disease risk—a meta-analysis of observation-

- al studies. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 87:627–637
- Borgquist S, Anagnostaki L, Jirstrom K, Landberg G, Manjer J. Breast tumours following combined hormone replacement therapy express favourable prognostic factors. Int J Cancer 2007; 120:2202–2207
- Brown EM. Calcium receptor and regulation of parathyroid hormone secretion. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2000; 1:307–315
- 60. Potts JT. Parathyroid hormone: past and present. J Endocrinol 2005; 187:311–325
- 61. Cole DE, Webb S, Chan PC. Update on parathyroid hormone: new tests and new challenges for external quality assessment. Clin Biochem 2007; 40:585–590
- 62. Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency. N Engl J Med 2007; 357:266–281
- Norman AW. From vitamin D to hormone D: fundamentals of the vitamin D endocrine system essential for good health. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 88:491S–499S
- 64. Kawahara M, Iwasaki Y, Sakaguchi K, *et al.* Predominant role of 25OHD in the negative regulation of PTH expression: clinical relevance for hypovitaminosis D. Life Sci 2008; 82:677–683
- Canalejo A, Almaden Y, Torregrosa V, et al.
   The in-vitro effect of calcitriol on parathyroid cell proliferation and apoptosis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2000; 11:1865–1872
- 66. Lips P, Wiersinga A, van Ginkel FC, *et al.*The effect of vitamin D supplementation on vitamin D status and parathyroid function in elderly subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1988; 67:644–650
- 67. Steingrimsdottir L, Gunnarsson O, Indridason OS, Franzson L, Sigurdsson G. Relationship between serum parathyroid hormone levels, vitamin D sufficiency, and calcium intake. Jama 2005; 294:2336–2341
- 68. Sahota O, Mundey MK, San P, et al. The relationship between vitamin D and parathyroid hormone: calcium homeostasis, bone turnover, and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with established osteoporosis. Bone 2004; 35:312–319
- Gueguen L, Pointillart A. The bioavailability of dietary calcium. J Am Coll Nutr 2000; 19:119S–136S

- 70. Hirvonen T, Tapanainen H, Valsta L, *et al.* Efficacy and safety of food fortification with calcium among adults in Finland. Public Health Nutr 2006; 9:792–797
- 71. National Food Administration. Recommended daily allowances (RDA) for minerals and vitamins (in Swedish): Rekommenderat intag av vitaminer och mineraler. Stockholm, 2007. Retrieved 11 January 2009. http://www.slv.se/templates/SLV\_Page.aspx?id=13942&epslanguage=SV
- Holden JM, Lemar LE, Exler J. Vitamin D in foods: development of the US Department of Agriculture database. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 87:10925–1096S
- 73. Armas LA, Hollis BW, Heaney RP. Vitamin D2 is much less effective than vitamin D3 in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89:5387–5391
- 74. Trang HM, Cole DE, Rubin LA, et al. Evidence that vitamin D3 increases serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D more efficiently than does vitamin D2. Am J Clin Nutr 1998; 68:854–858
- 75. Whiting SJ, Calvo MS. Dietary recommendations for vitamin D: a critical need for functional end points to establish an estimated average requirement. J Nutr 2005; 135:304–309
- Nordin BC. Calcium requirement is a sliding scale. Am J Clin Nutr 2000; 71:1381– 1383
- 77. Heaney RP. Vitamin D and calcium interactions: functional outcomes. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 88:541S–544S
- 78. Gensure RC, Gardella TJ, Juppner H. Parathyroid hormone and parathyroid hormone-related peptide, and their receptors. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 328:666–678
- 79. Foley J, Dann P, Hong J, et al. Parathyroid hormone-related protein maintains mammary epithelial fate and triggers nipple skin differentiation during embryonic breast development. Development 2001; 128:513–525
- Prince RL. Counterpoint: estrogen effects on calcitropic hormones and calcium homeostasis. Endocr Rev 1994; 15:301–309
- 81. Heikkinen A, Parviainen MT, Tuppurainen

- MT, et al. Effects of postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy with and without vitamin D3 on circulating levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D. Calcif Tissue Int 1998; 62:26–30
- 82. Duarte B, Hargis GK, Kukreja SC. Effects of estradiol and progesterone on parathyroid hormone secretion from human parathyroid tissue. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1988; 66:584–587
- 83. Finkelstein JS, Schoenfeld DA. Effects of gonadal suppression on the regulation of parathyroid hormone and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D secretion in women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1999; 84:2151–2156
- 84. Kanatani M, Sugimoto T, Takahashi Y, *et al.* Estrogen via the estrogen receptor blocks cAMP-mediated parathyroid hormone (PTH)-stimulated osteoclast formation. J Bone Miner Res 1998; 13:854–862
- 85. Liu BY, Wu PW, Bringhurst FR, Wang JT. Estrogen inhibition of PTH-stimulated osteoclast formation and attachment in vitro: involvement of both PKA and PKC. Endocrinology 2002; 143:627–635
- Stewart AF. Clinical practice. Hypercalcemia associated with cancer. N Engl J Med 2005; 352:373–379
- 87. Jacobs TP, Bilezikian JP. Clinical review: Rare causes of hypercalcemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90:6316–6322
- 88. Lundgren E, Hagstrom EG, Lundin J, *et al.*Primary hyperparathyroidism revisited in menopausal women with serum calcium in the upper normal range at population-based screening 8 years ago. World J Surg 2002; 26:931–936
- 89. Bilezikian JP, Potts JT, Jr., Fuleihan Gel H, *et al.* Summary statement from a workshop on asymptomatic primary hyperparathyroidism: a perspective for the 21st century. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87:5353–5361
- Rubin MR, Bilezikian JP, McMahon DJ, et al. The natural history of primary hyperparathyroidism with or without parathyroid surgery after 15 years. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008; 93:3462–3470
- 91. Kouvaraki MA, Greer M, Sharma S, *et al.* Indications for operative intervention in patients with asymptomatic primary hyper-

- parathyroidism: practice patterns of endocrine surgery. Surgery 2006; 139:527–534
- Suva LJ, Winslow GA, Wettenhall RE, et al.
   A parathyroid hormone-related protein implicated in malignant hypercalcemia: cloning and expression. Science 1987; 237:893–896
- 93. DeMauro S, Wysolmerski J. Hypercalcemia in breast cancer: an echo of bone mobilization during lactation? J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2005; 10:157–167
- 94. Hollis BW. Circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels indicative of vitamin D sufficiency: implications for establishing a new effective dietary intake recommendation for vitamin D. J Nutr 2005; 135:317–322
- Heaney RP, Dowell MS, Hale CA, Bendich A. Calcium absorption varies within the reference range for serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D. J Am Coll Nutr 2003; 22:142–146
- Chapuy MC, Preziosi P, Maamer M, et al. Prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency in an adult normal population. Osteoporos Int 1997; 7:439–443
- Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dietrich T, Orav EJ, Dawson-Hughes B. Positive association between 25-hydroxy vitamin D levels and bone mineral density: a population-based study of younger and older adults. Am J Med 2004; 116:634–639
- 98. Dawson-Hughes B, Heaney RP, Holick MF, et al. Estimates of optimal vitamin D status. Osteoporos Int 2005; 16:713–716
- Vieth R, Bischoff-Ferrari H, Boucher BJ, et al. The urgent need to recommend an intake of vitamin D that is effective. Am J Clin Nutr 2007; 85:649–650
- 100. Humble M. [Vitamin D deficiency probably more common than earlier apprehended. Prevention and treatment could result in unexpected public health effects]. Lakartidningen 2007; 104:853–857
- Journe F, Dumon JC, Kheddoumi N, et al.
   Extracellular calcium downregulates estrogen receptor alpha and increases its transcriptional activity through calcium-sensing receptor in breast cancer cells. Bone 2004; 35:479–488
- 102. Simpson RU, Arnold AJ. Calcium antagonizes 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibi-

- tion of breast cancer cell proliferation. Endocrinology 1986; 119:2284–2289
- 103. Saez S, Falette N, Guillot C, et al. William L. McGuire Memorial Symposium. 1,25(OH)2D3 modulation of mammary tumor cell growth in vitro and in vivo. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1993; 27:69–81
- 104. Jensen SS, Madsen MW, Lukas J, Binderup L, Bartek J. Inhibitory effects of 1alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D(3) on the G(1)-S phase-controlling machinery. Mol Endocrinol 2001; 15:1370–1380
- 105. Juppner H, Abou-Samra AB, Freeman M, et al. A G protein-linked receptor for parathyroid hormone and parathyroid hormone-related peptide. Science 1991; 254:1024–1026
- 106. Downey SE, Hoyland J, Freemont AJ, et al. Expression of the receptor for parathyroid hormone-related protein in normal and malignant breast tissue. J Pathol 1997; 183:212–217
- Luparello C, Birch MA, Gallagher JA, Burtis WJ. Clonal heterogeneity of the growth and invasive response of a human breast carcinoma cell line to parathyroid hormone-related peptide fragments. Carcinogenesis 1997; 18:23–29
- Tovar Sepulveda VA, Shen X, Falzon M. Intracrine PTHrP protects against serum starvation-induced apoptosis and regulates the cell cycle in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Endocrinology 2002; 143:596–606
- 109. Bundred NJ, Walker RA, Ratcliffe WA, *et al.* Parathyroid hormone related protein and skeletal morbidity in breast cancer. Eur J Cancer 1992; 28:690–692
- 110. Bouizar Z, Spyratos F, Deytieux S, de Vernejoul MC, Jullienne A. Polymerase chain reaction analysis of parathyroid hormone-related protein gene expression in breast cancer patients and occurrence of bone metastases. Cancer Res 1993; 53:5076–5078
- 111. Yoshida A, Nakamura Y, Shimizu A, *et al.*Significance of the parathyroid hormone-related protein expression in breast carcinoma.
  Breast Cancer 2000; 7:215–220
- 112. Powell GJ, Southby J, Danks JA, *et al.* Localization of parathyroid hormone-related protein in breast cancer metastases: increased

- incidence in bone compared with other sites. Cancer Res 1991; 51:3059–3061
- 113. Leifsson BG, Ahren B. Serum calcium and survival in a large health screening program. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1996; 81:2149– 2153
- 114. Palmer M, Adami HO, Bergstrom R, *et al.*Survival and renal function in untreated hypercalcaemia. Population-based cohort study with 14 years of follow-up. Lancet 1987; 1:59–62
- 115. Garland CF, Gorham ED, Mohr SB, et al. Vitamin D and prevention of breast cancer: pooled analysis. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2007; 103:708–711
- 116. Lowe L, Hansen CM, Senaratne S, Colston KW. Mechanisms implicated in the growth regulatory effects of vitamin D compounds in breast cancer cells. Recent Results Cancer Res 2003; 164:99–110
- 117. Abbas S, Chang-Claude J, Linseisen J. Plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D and premenopausal breast cancer risk in a German case-control study. Int J Cancer 2008; 124:250–255
- 118. Abbas S, Linseisen J, Slanger T, et al. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and risk of post-menopausal breast cancer–results of a large casecontrol study. Carcinogenesis 2008; 29:93– 99
- 119. Hiatt RA, Krieger N, Lobaugh B, *et al.* Prediagnostic serum vitamin D and breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1998; 90:461–463
- 120. Malmö City Council. City Statistics. Malmö, 2008. Retrieved 11 January 2009. http://www.malmo.se/kommunfaktapolitik/statistik.4.33aee30d103b8f15916800028279.
- 121. Trell E. Community-based preventive medical department for individual risk factor assessment and intervention in an urban population. Prev Med 1983; 12:397–402
- 122. Berglund G, Eriksson KF, Israelsson B, et al. Cardiovascular risk groups and mortality in an urban Swedish male population: the Malmo Preventive Project. J Intern Med 1996; 239:489–497
- 123. Berglund G, Elmstahl S, Janzon L, Larsson SA. The Malmo Diet and Cancer Study. Design and feasibility. J Intern Med 1993; 233:45–51

- 124. Manjer J, Elmstahl S, Janzon L, Berglund G. Invitation to a population-based cohort study: differences between subjects recruited using various strategies. Scand J Public Health 2002; 30:103–112
- 125. Wirfalt E, Mattisson I, Johansson U, *et al.*A methodological report from the Malmo Diet and Cancer study: development and evaluation of altered routines in dietary data processing. Nutr J 2002; 1:3
- 126. Pero RW, Olsson A, Bryngelsson C, et al. Feasibility and quality of biological banking of human normal and tumor tissue specimens as sources of DNA for the Malmo Diet and Cancer Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1998; 7:809–812
- 127. Pero RW, Olsson A, Bryngelsson C, et al. Quality control program for storage of biologically banked blood specimens in the Malmo Diet and Cancer Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1998; 7:803–808
- 128. Solberg HE. Monitoring long-term analytical quality by computerized combined Shewart-cusum method. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl 1984; 172:43–49
- 129. Anker P, Wieland E, Ammann D, *et al.* Neutral carrier based ion-selective electrode for the determination of total calcium in blood serum. Anal Chem 1981; 53:1970–1974
- 130. Pinnell AE, Northam BE. New automated dye-binding method for serum albumin determination with bromcresol purple. Clin Chem 1978; 24:80–86
- 131. Garne JP. Invasive breast cancer in Malmö 1961–1992 – an epidemiological study (*Thesis*). Lund University, Malmö. 1996.
- 132. Hansson MG. Ethics and biobanks. Br J Cancer 2008. Epub ahead of print.
- 133. Marshall RW, Francis RM, Hodgkinson A. Plasma total and ionised calcium, albumin and globulin concentrations in pre- and post-menopausal women and the effects of oestrogen administration. Clin Chim Acta 1982; 122:283–287
- 134. Nordin BE, Polley KJ. Metabolic consequences of the menopause. A cross-sectional, longitudinal, and intervention study on 557 normal postmenopausal women. Calcif Tissue Int 1987; 41 Suppl 1:S1–59
- 135. Nordin BE, JM WI, Clifton PM, et al. Alon-

- gitudinal study of bone-related biochemical changes at the menopause. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2004; 61:123–130
- 136. Thys-Jacobs S, McMahon D, Bilezikian JP. Cyclical changes in calcium metabolism across the menstrual cycle in women with premenstrual dysphoric disorder. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007; 92:2952–2959
- 137. Aitken JM, Hart DM, Smith DA. The effect of long-term mestranol administration on calcium and phosphorus homeostasis in oophorectomized women. Clin Sci 1971; 41:233–236
- 138. Sukonpan K, Phupong V. Serum calcium and serum magnesium in normal and preeclamptic pregnancy. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2005; 273:12–16
- 139. Cosman F, Shen V, Xie F, *et al.* Estrogen protection against bone resorbing effects of parathyroid hormone infusion. Assessment by use of biochemical markers. Ann Intern Med 1993; 118:337–343
- 140. Boucher A, D'Amour P, Hamel L, et al. Estrogen replacement decreases the set point of parathyroid hormone stimulation by calcium in normal postmenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1989; 68:831–836
- Scopacasa F, Horowitz M, Need AG, Morris HA, Nordin BE. The effects of low dose norethisterone on biochemical variables in postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int 1999; 9:494–498
- 142. McGrath CM, Soule HD. Calcium regulation of normal human mammary epithelial cell growth in culture. In Vitro 1984; 20:652–662
- 143. Russo J, Mills MJ, Moussalli MJ, Russo IH. Influence of human breast development on the growth properties of primary cultures. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol 1989; 25:643–649

- 144. Liu G, Hu X, Chakrabarty S. Calcium sensing receptor down-regulates malignant cell behavior and promotes chemosensitivity in human breast cancer cells. Cell Calcium 2008. Epub ahead of print.
- 145. Cui Y, Vogt S, Olson N, Glass AG, Rohan TE. Levels of zinc, selenium, calcium, and iron in benign breast tissue and risk of subsequent breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2007; 16:1682–1685
- 146. Ricos C, Alvarez V, Cava F, *et al.* Current databases on biological variation: pros, cons and progress. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1999; 59:491–500
- 147. Gallagher SK, Johnson LK, Milne DB. Shortterm and long-term variability of indices related to nutritional status. I: Ca, Cu, Fe, Mg, and Zn. Clin Chem 1989; 35:369–373
- 148. Prince RL, Dick I, Devine A, *et al.* The effects of menopause and age on calcitropic hormones: a cross-sectional study of 655 healthy women aged 35 to 90. J Bone Miner Res 1995; 10:835–842
- Nilsson-Ehle P. Laurells klinisk kemi i praktisk medicin. Studentlitteratur AB, Sweden, 2003.
- Platz EA, Leitzmann MF, Hollis BW, Willett WC, Giovannucci E. Plasma 1,25-dihydroxy- and 25-hydroxyvitamin D and subsequent risk of prostate cancer. Cancer Causes Control 2004; 15:255–265
- 151. Viljoen A, Singh DK, Twomey PJ, Farrington K. Analytical quality goals for parathyroid hormone based on biological variation. Clin Chem Lab Med 2008; 46:1438–1442
- 152. Ankrah-Tetteh T, Wijeratne S, Swaminathan R. Intra-individual variation in serum thyroid hormones, parathyroid hormone and insulin-like growth factor-1. Ann Clin Biochem 2008; 45:167–169

# Paper I

#### **EPIDEMIOLOGY**

# Serum calcium and breast cancer risk: results from a prospective cohort study of 7,847 women

Martin Almquist · Jonas Manjer · Lennart Bondeson · Anne-Greth Bondeson

Received: 19 October 2006/Accepted: 21 February 2007 © Springer Science+Business Media B.V. 2007

Abstract Experimental and epidemiological studies suggest that calcium-regulating hormones-parathyroid hormone (PTH) and vitamin D-may be associated with breast cancer risk. No prospective cohort study has investigated the association between pre-diagnostic calcium levels and subsequent risk of breast cancer. We have examined this in a cohort of 7,847 women where serum calcium levels and established risk factors for breast cancer had been assessed at baseline. During a mean follow-up of 17.8 years, 437 incident breast cancer cases were diagnosed. Incidence of breast cancer was calculated in different quartiles of serum calcium levels and a Cox's proportional hazards analysis was used to obtain corresponding relative risks (RR), with a 95% confidence interval (CI), adjusted for potential confounders. In premenopausal women, serum calcium levels were inversely associated with breast cancer risk in a dose-response manner. The adjusted RR (95% CI) of breast cancer was in the 2nd calcium quartile 0.91 (0.65-1.30), in the 3rd quartile 0.89 (0.60-1.31), and in the 4th quartile 0.56 (0.32-0.98), as compared to the 1st calcium quartile. In postmenopausal overweight women (BMI > 25), breast cancer risk was higher in calcium quartiles 2-4 as compared to the 1st quartile. Our findings may have implications for primary prevention of breast cancer and for the management of asymptomatic primary hyperparathyroidism.

**Keywords** Breast cancer · Calcium · Obesity · Vitamin-D · Parathyroid hormone

#### Abbreviations

PTH Parathyroid hormone

pHPT Primary hyperparathyroidism

BMI Body mass index

MPP Malmö Preventive Project

HRT Hormone replacement therapy

SD Standard deviation RR Relative risk CI Confidence interval

Grant sponsor: The Ernhold Lundström Foundation, The Foundation for Surgical Research at Malmö University Hospital

M. Almquist  $(\boxtimes) \cdot J$ . Manjer  $\cdot$  A.-G. Bondeson Department of Surgery, Malmö University Hospital, 205 02 Malmo, Sweden e-mail: martin.almquist@med.lu.se

L. Bondeson Department of Pathology, Malmö University Hospital, 205 02 Malmo, Sweden

### Introduction

Breast cancer is the most common malignant disease in women. Most established risk factors concern reproductive history, but other factors may be of interest. Experimental studies indicate that calcium levels may affect tumor development [1–4]. The calcium-regulating hormones vitamin-D and its metabolites, most notably 1,25 (OH)<sub>2</sub> D3, and parathyroid hormone (PTH) have also been suggested to affect breast cancer risk [5, 6].

PTH and vitamin-D regulate the production of each other, and both factors increase serum calcium levels [7]. Experimental studies suggest that PTH has carcinogenic and tumor promoting effects [8–10]. At least three recordlinkage studies have found a weak positive correlation



between risk of breast cancer and primary hyperparathyroidism (pHPT), a condition with high PTH and often high calcium levels [11–13]. Contrary to this, it has been suggested that high vitamin-D levels may have tumor protective effects [6, 14]. Thus, the serum calcium level, either in itself or as a marker of certain conditions, may be associated with breast cancer risk. This relation is complicated, however, by the fact that potential mechanisms act in opposite directions.

Furthermore, several conditions may modify the relation between the factors mentioned above and the risk of breast cancer. High age and obesity are associated with a high prevalence of pHPT [15, 16] and low levels of vitamin-D, e.g., 25(OH)D [17]. It has also been suggested that pre- and postmenopausal women may have different risk factors for breast cancer [18] and that obesity may modify the association between established risk factors and breast cancer [19].

To our knowledge, there has been no prospective cohort study on serum calcium levels in relation to incidence of breast cancer. Here we report a cohort of 7,847 women, with information on total serum calcium and risk factors for breast cancer, followed with regard to breast cancer incidence during an average of 17.8 years.

The aim of the present analysis was to study incidence of breast cancer in women according to pre-diagnostic levels of serum calcium, with special regard to body mass index (BMI) and menopausal status.

#### Materials and methods

# The Malmö Preventive Project

The Malmö Preventive Project (MPP) in Malmö, Sweden, was established in 1974 for screening with regard to cardiovascular risk factors [20]. Entire birth-year cohorts, men and women, registered as citizens in Malmö were successively invited by mail to a health examination. Approximately 70% of invited women attended [20]. When the department closed in 1992, 10,902 women, born between 1926 and 1949, had been examined. Their mean age at baseline was 49.7 years, and 59.8% were peri-/postmeno-pausal [21].

### Baseline examination

A self-administered questionnaire was used for a comprehensive interview on lifestyle habits, medical history, marital status, education, and use of medications [20]. The questionnaire was revised several times. Information on reproductive history was included in the questionnaire for women screened from April 1983 and onwards. Factors

that have been associated with breast cancer risk were available from the questionnaire: age at menarche, menopausal status, parity, use of oral contraceptives and hormonal replacement therapy (HRT), educational level, and marital status. Information necessary for calculation of body mass index (BMI) (kg/m2) was assessed by a trained nurse on baseline examination; height was measured to the nearest centimeter, and weight was recorded with the subject wearing no shoes, on a beam scale at intervals of 0.1 kg. In the morning, after an overnight fast, all subjects gave a blood sample, which was analyzed immediately. Calcium was measured photometrically by the laboratory at the Dept. of Clinical Chemistry, University Hospital of Malmö, on a PRISMA multichannel autoanalyser (Clinicon AB, Bromma, Sweden) [22, 23]. The coefficient of variation was 1.52% [22]. The reference value for serum calcium during this period was 2.20-2.60 mmol/l. Women were classified as peri-postmenopausal if they affirmed that their menstruations had ceased, that they had menopausal symptoms or that they were taking any "female hormonal medication" because of such symptoms.

# Study cohort

Out of 10,902 women, information on reproductive factors including menopausal status was known for 8,051 women. Serum calcium had been measured in 8,004 of these. A total of 157 women with prevalent invasive breast cancer at baseline were excluded. Thus, the present study is based on 7,847 women.

Ethical clearance for this study was obtained from the Ethical committee in Lund, LU 639-03.

# Follow-up

Breast cancer cases, invasive and in situ, were retrieved by record linkage with the Swedish Cancer Registry and the Southern Swedish Regional Cancer Registry. There were in all 437 incident cases. Stage at diagnosis was retrieved from clinical notes and from a clinical registry run by the South Swedish Breast Cancer Group. Stage according to the UICC was given from the TNM classification [24]. Information on vital status was retrieved from the Swedish Cause of Death Registry. Each woman was followed until end of follow-up, 31st December 2003, or until she got breast cancer or died. The average follow-up was 17.8 years (SD: 5.8 years).

# Statistical methods

Quartile cut-points for total serum calcium were based on the distribution for women in the study cohort excluding those with prevalent cancer of any site (not including



cervical cancer in situ). The incidence of breast cancer per 100,000 person-years was calculated in relation to serum calcium quartiles. Cox's proportional hazards analysis was used to estimate corresponding relative risks (RRs), with a confidence interval (CI) of 95%. In a second analysis, potential confounders were introduced as covariates. BMI and age were treated as continuous variables, whereas all other covariates were entered as categorical variables. Test for trend over quartiles were calculated and a *p*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Separate analyses were made in pre- versus peri-/postmenopausal women and in different strata of BMI, i.e., BMI < 25 vs. BMI ≥ 25 (overweight and obese women). All analyses were repeated excluding cases diagnosed within two years following baseline examination. Analyses were also done using separate quartile cut-points based on serum calcium levels in pre- versus peri-postmenopausal women. Stage distribution was assessed in relation to serum calcium quartiles, BMI, and postmenopausal status. The chi-square test was used in order to assess heterogeneity between groups, and a *p*-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# Results

Use of oral contraceptives and hormone replacement therapy, HRT, were more common in lower calcium quartiles, and there was a higher percentage of peri-post-menopausal women in higher calcium quartiles, Table 1. Mean calcium levels (range) were in premenopausal women 2.32 (1.89–2.76) mmol/l and in peri-postmenopausal women 2.36 (2.03–2.80) mmol/l. This is in line with previous studies that have shown serum calcium to rise with menopause [25, 26].

Table 1 Distribution of potential risk factors for breast cancer according to serum calcium level

Factor <sup>a</sup>	Serum calcius	n quartile [mmo	1/1]			
	$     \begin{array}{r}       1 \ n = 1,880 \\       [<2.29]     \end{array} $	2 n = 2,109 [2.29–2.34]	3 n = 2,034 [2.35–2.40]	4 <i>n</i> = 1,824 [>2.40]	All n = 7,847	
	(column percent; mean (SD) in italics)					
Age at baseline (years)	51.4 (4.5)	52.0 (4.6)	52.5 (4.5)	53.5 (4.0)	52.3 (4.5)	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	24.7 (4.2)	24.6 (4.2)	24.9 (4.2)	25.1 (4.4)	24.8 (4.2)	
<12 years at menarche(vs. ≥12 years)	11.8	13.1	12.0	13.7	12.6	
Oral contraception (yes versus no)	8.4	5.3	3.8	2.0	4.9	
Peri-/postmenopausal (versus premenopausal)	46.6	59.4	69.6	78.8	63.5	
Number of children						
0	13.9	14.6	17.4	17.2	15.8	
1–2	59.5	59.6	56.6	56.4	58.0	
3–4	25.2	24.5	24.3	24.8	24.7	
>4	0.9	1.1	1.0	1.2	1.1	
HRT among peri-/postmenopausal ( $n = 4980$ ) (vs. no-use)	24.7	16.0	10.1	8.3	13.6	
Smoking status						
Never	47.7	46.6	46.5	49.0	47.4	
Ex	20.5	20.7	19.2	18.7	19.8	
Current	31.9	32.7	34.3	32.3	32.8	
Married						
Yes	51.2	4.8.7	50.6	50.3	50.2	
No	44.9	44.9	42.1	41.2	43.3	
Missing	3.9	6.4	7.3	8.6	6.5	
Alcohol consumption						
None	15.6	15.3	16.9	18.1	16.5	
Less than every week	59.4	61.0	58.8	58.7	59.5	
Every week	25.0	23.7	24.3	23.2	24.1	
≥12 years of education	34.4	32.4	32.1	32.0	32.7	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Separate missing category reported if > 1% of subjects had no information



Table 2 Breast cancer incidence in pre-, peri/postmenopausal and all women in relation to serum calcium levels

Menopausal status	Serum calcium quartile	Individuals	Breast cancer cases	Person- years	Incidence/ 100,000	RR (CI: 95%)	RR <sup>a</sup> (CI: 95%)
Premenopausal	1	1,003	72	17,281	417	1.00	1.00
	2	857	56	14,763	379	0.91 (0.65-1.30)	0.92 (0.65-1.31)
	3	618	39	10,626	367	0.89 (0.60-1.31)	0.88 (0.59-1.30)
	4	386	15	6,518	230	0.56 (0.32-0.98)	0.56 (0.32-0.99)
Peri/postmenopausal	1	877	39	14,055	277	1.00	1.00
	2	1,252	66	20,335	324	1.17 (0.79-1.74)	1.20 (0.81-1.79)
	3	1,416	80	22,185	361	1.31 (0.89-1.92)	1.38 (0.93-2.03)
	4	1,438	70	21,899	320	1.17 (0.79-1.73)	1.26 (0.84-1.89)
All	1	1,880	111	31,336	354	1.00	1.00
	2	1,987	122	35,098	348	0.98 (0.76-1.27)	0.99 (0.76-1.28)
	3	1,915	119	32,811	363	1.03 (0.80-1.34)	1.05 (0.81-1.36)
	4	1,739	85	28,417	299	0.86 (0.65-1.14)	0.89 (0.67-1.19)
Total		7,847	437	127,662	342		

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> adjusted for age, BMI, age at menarche, use of oral contraception, number of children, use of hormone-replacement therapy (in peri-postmenopausal women), smoking status, marital status, alcohol consumption and educational level

There was no overall association between serum calcium levels and breast cancer, Table 2, crude and age-adjusted RR:s were similar to those obtained in the full model

Serum calcium levels were inversely associated with incidence of breast cancer in premenopausal women in a dose-response manner, but p for trend did not reach statistical significance, p=0.25. In postmenopausal women, the p-value for trend over quartiles was 0.45. There was a weak, non-significant, association between serum calcium levels and breast cancer incidence in peri-/postmenopausal women.

Serum calcium was associated with a high risk of breast cancer in overweight postmenopausal women, Table 3. The RR:s, adjusted for known risk factors for breast cancer, as outlined in Table 1, for the 2nd, 3rd and 4th quartiles as compared to the 1st were 2.74, 3.10 and 2.72, respectively (p for trend: 0.04). Crude and age-adjusted RR:s were similar. There was no statistically significant trend over quartiles in any of the analyses presented in Table 3. In the subgroup of obese, postmenopausal women the distribution of other risk factors was similar in all calcium quartiles.

When the analyses were repeated excluding cases with breast cancer occurring within 2 years following baseline,

Table 3 Breast cancer incidence in pre- and peri/postmenopausal women in relation to serum calcium in different strata of bmi

Menopausal status	Serum calcium	BMI < 25			BMI ≥ 25		
	quartile	Individuals	Cases	RR <sup>a</sup> (CI: 95%)	Individuals	Cases	RR <sup>a</sup> (CI: 95%)
Premenopausal	1	650	45	1.00	353	27	1.00
	2	582	35	0.91 (0.58-1.43)	275	21	0.98 (0.55-1.76)
	3	405	28	1.04 (0.65-1.69)	213	11	0.60 (030-1.22)
	4	228	10	0.68 (0.34-1.35)	158	5	0.44 (0.16-1.15)
Peri/postmeno-pausal	1	518	31	1.00	359	8	1.00
	2	736	35	0.82 (0.50-1.34)	516	31	2.74 (1.25-5.98)
	3	797	40	0.91 (0.57-1.47)	619	40	3.10 (1.44-6.68)
	4	795	37	0.88 (0.54-1.44)	640	33	2.72 (1.24-5.94)
All	1	1168	76	1.00	712	35	1.00
	2	1318	70	0.84 (0.61-1.17)	791	52	1.34 (0.87-2.06)
	3	1202	68	0.95 (0.68-1.32)	832	51	1.26 (0.81-1.94)
	4	1023	47	0.82 (0.56-1.19)	798	38	1.09 (0.68-1.74)
Total		4711	261		3133	176	

a adjusted for age, age at menarche, use of oral contraception, number of children, use of hormone-replacement therapy (in peri-/postmeno-pausal women), smoking status, marital status, alcohol consumption and educational level



all results were similar (data not shown). Results were also similar when using separate quartile cut-points based on serum calcium levels in pre- versus postmenopausal women (data not shown); however, results did not reach statistical significance in the 4th calcium quartile among obese peri-postmenopausal women, RR: 1.76 (0.92–3.38).

Stage was known for 422 out of 437 breast cancer cases (96.6%). There was no clear relation between stage distribution and serum calcium quartiles. Thus, 31.5% of cases in the 1st calcium quartile were diagnosed with a stage II + tumor (stage II, III or IV), 37.4% in the 2nd, 29.5% in the  $3^{\rm rd}$ , and 43.0% in the 4th serum calcium quartile. These differences corresponded to a *p*-value of 0.21. Stage distribution in different serum calcium quartiles was also similar in pre- versus. postmenopausal and in normal versus overweight/obese women.

#### Discussion

In this study serum calcium levels were inversely associated with breast cancer risk in premenopausal women in a dose-response manner. This study also indicates that calcium levels are positively associated with breast cancer in overweight peri-/postmenopausal women.

It may be questioned whether it is appropriate to use a single determination for ranking of serum calcium levels. Both short-time [27] and long-time [28] intra-individual variation in total serum calcium are low. Even though serum calcium levels rise with menopause [26, 29] there seems to be significant 'tracking', i.e., the ranking of calcium levels between individuals tends to remain the same before and after menopause [25]. Although inter-individual differences in absolute values for serum calcium are low, we still consider these differences important when large groups are compared. Thus, we believe that a single measurement of serum calcium is a useful marker for differences with regard to calcium homeostasis.

It has been argued that free (ionized) calcium provides the best indication of calcium status because it is biologically active and tightly regulated by calcium-regulating hormones. Total calcium levels are affected by plasma protein levels, notably albumin. In our cohort, adjusting for serum albumin was not possible, since albumin levels were only known for about a quarter (n = 2048) of the study population. However, total calcium has been considered a good measure of calcium homeostasis in outpatients and healthy individuals where albumin will be expected to be in the normal range [23]. Albumin was normally distributed among those with known albumin levels, and only 75 women (3.7%) had an albumin outside the normal reference range (36–45 g/l). All samples were also collected in

a standardized manner, which minimizes differences in albumin levels due to fasting status or diurnal variation [30]. Following this, we consider total serum calcium a useful and valid measurement of calcium status in this study population.

Vitamin D and PTH-levels seem to be unaffected by menopause per se [25]. The rise of serum calcium with menopause might instead be explained by the fact that bone seems to turn more sensitive to PTH in the absence of estrogen [31, 32]. The associations between some risk factors and breast cancer differ in pre- and postmenopausal women and this was one reason a priori to study breast cancer incidence separately in pre- versus peri-postmenopausal women [33]. Moreover, pHPT is more common in postmenopausal than in premenopausal women [15]. PHPT is often a mild disease with a protracted course, asymptomatic in its early stages, with gradually rising calcium levels. The prevalence of clinical symptomatic pHPT in postmenopausal women has been estimated to be around 3% [34] and the prevalence of asymptomatic pHPT could be even higher. Whether this prevalence is high enough to affect calcium levels overall in this group might be questioned, but we think it is reasonable to assume a higher percentage of women with undiagnosed, asymptomatic pHPT in the higher serum calcium quartiles.

If breast cancer itself causes hypercalcemia, such as in hypercalcemia of malignancy, this could lead to a spurious association between calcium levels and breast cancer risk. This would be a serious problem in cross-sectional studies, i.e., case-control studies, but it is less of a problem when pre-diagnostic calcium levels are available, as in this analysis. Moreover, hypercalcemia of malignancy usually presents with advanced disease [35], and such patients would probably have been diagnosed with breast cancer at baseline and would, thus, have been excluded. To further exclude cases where hypercalcemia might have been caused by undiagnosed breast cancer, the analyses were repeated excluding cases with breast cancer occurring within two years following baseline. All results were similar and we do not consider that malignancy-related hypercalcemia associated with breast cancer have affected the observations in the present study. Malignancies other than breast cancer can also give rise to hypercalcemia. In these cases, an association between serum calcium and breast cancer could be due to calcium levels, or mediators of calcium homeostasis, affecting breast cancer growth. Hence, we did not exclude other prevalent malignancies from our analysis, but only those with prevalent breast cancer.

Incomplete follow-up may affect the results. However, the Swedish Cancer Registry and the Swedish Cause of Death Registry have been validated and found to have a completeness of about 99% [36].



Another relevant issue is whether the results could have been caused by detection bias. Women in these birth cohorts have regularly been invited to mammographic screening since the end of the 1970s [37]. If calcium levels were associated with factors that affect time of diagnosis, such as participation in mammographic screening or patient's delay, a trend over quartiles with respect to stage at diagnosis would be expected. No such trend was observed and we consider it unlikely that detection bias has influenced our results.

It may be asked whether breast cancer cases in this cohort may be considered representative of the whole breast cancer population. This cohort mainly comprised middle-aged women and 30% of the women invited to the health examination did not attend. As we have no information about exposure to the studied risk factors in women outside this cohort, observed incidence rates may not be applicable to all age groups or to the general population. However, as there was a wide distribution of calcium levels, it was possible to make internal comparisons between subjects with low and high values, respectively. We consider that our estimations of relative risks were not considerably affected by selection bias.

It is possible that both high serum calcium levels and breast cancer are caused by a common factor. The results were probably not confounded by most known risk factors for breast cancer though, since information on these were known for the study cohort, and results were similar when statistical analyses were repeatedly adjusted for these factors. We were not able to adjust our estimates for heredity or physical activity, since we had no information on these variables. It is, however, unlikely that these factors have influenced the results, since, to our knowledge, there is no strong correlation between either physical activity or heredity and serum calcium levels. Other factors that would have been of interest are determinants of calcium homeostasis, such as diet, sunshine exposure, vitamin D, and PTH-levels. The inclusion of these factors in future studies would be very valuable.

This is the first prospective cohort study on serum calcium levels and breast cancer risk. In order to explore whether factors that affect PTH and vitamin-D levels, i.e., menopausal status and obesity, modify the relation between calcium levels and breast cancer risk, several subgroup analyses were performed. Some groups had a limited number of cases and our finding that high calcium levels are associated with breast cancer in overweight peri-/ postmenopausal women was based on a low number of cases and CIs were wide. However, the distribution of risk factors in postmenopausal obese women between calcium quartiles does not differ from the whole study population (data not shown) and the results may represent a true threshold-effect in RR between the first and second

calcium quartiles. Indeed, it may be that the lowest quartile has a lower than average risk; that low calcium levels in obese postmenopausal women reflects some protective factor. Such factors may be related to parameters that affect calcium homeostasis, i.e., PTH or vitamin-D, but this remains to be evaluated. Given the small number of cases in some subgroups, a chance finding cannot completely be ruled out, and our results will have to be confirmed in larger studies.

High levels of calcium per se can in experimental models increase cell differentiation, decrease proliferation, and induce apoptosis [1-4]. All of this would have a tumor protective effect. Calcium levels in serum may also be considered a marker for certain conditions, as calcium levels are increased following stimulation by PTH and vitamin-D. Experimental studies have shown that PTH have anti-apoptotic effects and may promote invasiveness [8-10], mechanisms that stimulate tumor growth. Contrary to this, vitamin-D may induce apoptosis, cell cycle arrest, and differentiation. Vitamin-D also inhibits invasiveness and angiogenesis [6, 14, 38], all of which have tumor protective effects. Following these potential biological mechanisms, it is possible to hypothesize that high serum calcium levels may be associated with both tumor protective and tumor promoting effects. To date, no study has investigated the influence of calcium levels as well as PTH and vitamin-D levels on breast cancer risk.

There is typically a weak, non-significant, inverse association between calcium intake and risk of breast cancer as reported by at least eight case—control studies and three cohort studies (referred to in [39, 40]). However, calcium homeostasis is kept very tight in humans, and dietary intake is a poor predictor of calcium levels in blood. No prospective cohort study has investigated the association between serum calcium levels in blood and breast cancer incidence. Three epidemiological record-linkage studies have evaluated primary hyperparathyroidism (pHPT) and risk of breast cancer [11–13]. Two of these studies found a statistically significant positive association between pHPT and subsequent breast cancer.

Two studies have examined vitamin-D levels in pre-diagnostic blood samples in relation to breast cancer risk. Hiatt et al. did not find any significant association between the vitamin-D metabolite 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D and breast cancer, but included only 96 cases [41]. Bertone-Johnson et al. found that the vitamin-D metabolites 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D were associated with a small, non-significantly, decreased risk of breast cancer [42]. None of these studies included information on calcium levels or PTH.

Studies on the relation between dietary intake of vitamin-D, or dairy products, and risk of breast cancer, do not, however, provide consistent evidence for an association [4, 40, 42, 43].



High calcium levels may reflect different conditions in specific groups as pHPT and low vitamin-D-levels are more common in postmenopausal [15, 17] and obese women [16]. It is possible to hypothesize that calcium levels in postmenopausal and obese women may reflect PTH levels rather than vitamin-D levels and that calcium levels in premenopausal women may mainly be a marker of vitamin-D levels. Obese are known to have an altered endocrine metabolism [44] and possibly factors as insulin or insulin-like growth factor (IGF) could be related to our observations [45].

Our findings will have to be tested in future studies, which must include information on PTH and vitamin-D levels as well as on serum calcium. Further research will give guidance on primary prevention for breast cancer, and can be important when deciding whether or not to treat individuals with mild or asymptomatic hyperparathyroidism.

We conclude that in this cohort of 7,847 women, serum calcium levels were inversely associated with breast cancer risk in premenopausal women in a dose-response manner. This study also indicates that high calcium levels may increase breast cancer risk in overweight peri-/postmenopausal women.

Acknowledgments Financial support was received from The Ernhold Lundström Foundation, The Einar and Inga Nilsson Foundation, The Malmö University Hospital Cancer Research Fund, The Malmö University Hospital Funds and Donations, The Crafoord Foundation, and The Foundation for Surgical Research at Malmö University Hospital. We are grateful to secretary Christina Bengtsson for generous assistance in collecting data. We state no conflicts of interest.

# References

- McGrath CM, Soule HD (1984) Calcium regulation of normal human mammary epithelial cell growth in culture. In Vitro 208:652-662
- Russo J, Mills MJ, Moussalli MJ, Russo IH (1989) Influence of human breast development on the growth properties of primary cultures. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol 257:643–649
- VanHouten JN (2005) Calcium sensing by the mammary gland.
   J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 102:129–139
- Moorman PG, Terry PD (2004) Consumption of dairy products and the risk of breast cancer: a review of the literature. Am J Clin Nutr 801:5–14
- McCarty MF (2000) Parathyroid hormone may be a cancer promoter - an explanation for the decrease in cancer risk associated with ultraviolet light, calcium, and vitamin D. Med Hypotheses 543:475–482
- Giovannucci E (2005) The epidemiology of vitamin D and cancer incidence and mortality: a review (United States). Cancer Causes Control 162:83–95
- Carmeliet G, Van Cromphaut S, Daci E, Maes C, Bouillon R (2003) Disorders of calcium homeostasis. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 174:529–546
- Birch MA, Carron JA, Scott M, Fraser WD, Gallagher JA (1995)
   Parathyroid hormone (PTH)/PTH-related protein (PTHrP)

- receptor expression and mitogenic responses in human breast cancer cell lines. Br J Cancer 721:90-95
- Linforth R, Anderson N, Hoey R et al (2002) Coexpression of parathyroid hormone related protein and its receptor in early breast cancer predicts poor patient survival. Clin Cancer Res 810:3172–3177
- Hoey RP, Sanderson C, Iddon J et al (2003) The parathyroid hormone-related protein receptor is expressed in breast cancer bone metastases and promotes autocrine proliferation in breast carcinoma cells. Br J Cancer 884:567–573
- Palmer M, Adami HO, Krusemo UB, Ljunghall S (1988) Increased risk of malignant diseases after surgery for primary hyperparathyroidism. A nationwide cohort study. Am J Epidemiol 1275:1031–1040
- Pickard AL, Gridley G, Mellemkjae L et al (2002) Hyperparathyroidism and subsequent cancer risk in Denmark. Cancer 958:1611–1617
- Michels KB, Xue F, Brandt L, Ekbom A (2004) Hyperparathyroidism and subsequent incidence of breast cancer. Int J Cancer 1103:449–451
- Lowe L, Hansen CM, Senaratne S, Colston KW (2003) Mechanisms implicated in the growth regulatory effects of vitamin D compounds in breast cancer cells. Recent Results Cancer Res 164:99–110
- Wermers RA, Khosla S, Atkinson EJ et al (2006) Incidence of primary hyperparathyroidism in Rochester, Minnesota, 1993— 2001: an update on the changing epidemiology of the disease. J Bone Miner Res 211:171—177
- Bolland MJ, Grey AB, Gamble GD, Reid IR (2005) Association between primary hyperparathyroidism and increased body weight: a meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 903:1525–1530
- Gaugris S, Heaney RP, Boonen S et al (2005) Vitamin D inadequacy among post-menopausal women: a systematic review. Qim 989:667–676
- Manjer J, Janzon L (1999) Covariance of breast cancer incidence with smoking-, oestrogen- and diet-related cancers in pre- and postmenopausal women in Sweden. Med Hypotheses 526:561– 568
- Lahmann PH, Hoffmann K, Allen N et al (2004) Body size and breast cancer risk: findings from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer And Nutrition (EPIC). Int J Cancer 1115:762–771
- Berglund G, Eriksson KF, Israelsson B et al (1996) Cardiovascular risk groups and mortality in an urban swedish male population: the Malmo Preventive Project. J Intern Med 2396:489

  –497
- Manjer J, Berglund G, Bondesson L et al (2000) Breast cancer incidence in relation to smoking cessation. Breast Cancer Res Treat 612:121–129
- Solberg HE (1984) Monitoring long-term analytical quality by computerized combined Shewart-cusum method. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl 172:43

  –49
- Nilsson-Ehle P (2003) Laurells klinisk kemi i praktisk medicin, 8th edn. Studentlitteratur AB, Sweden, p 723
- Sobin LH, Wittekind C (2002) TNM Classification of Malignant Tumours. 6th edn. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, New Jersey
- Nordin BE, Jm WI, Clifton PM et al (2004) A longitudinal study of bone-related biochemical changes at the menopause. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 611:123–130
- Young MM, Nordin BE (1967) Calcium metabolism and the menopause. Proc R Soc Med 6011 Part 1:1137–1138
- Ricos C, Alvarez V, Cava F et al (1999) Current databases on biological variation: pros, cons and progress. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 597:491–500
- Gallagher SK, Johnson LK, Milne DB (1989) Short-term and long-term variability of indices related to nutritional status. I: Ca, Cu, Fe, Mg, and Zn. Clin Chem 353:369–373

- Prince RL, Dick I, Devine A et al (1995) The effects of menopause and age on calcitropic hormones: a cross-sectional study of 655 healthy women aged 35 to 90. J Bone Miner Res 106:835–842
- Leifsson BG, Ahren B (1996) Serum calcium and survival in a large health screening program. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 816:2149–2153
- Joborn C, Ljunghall S, Larsson K et al (1991) Skeletal responsiveness to parathyroid hormone in healthy females: relationship to menopause and oestrogen replacement. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 345:335–339
- Cosman F, Shen V, Xie F et al (1993) Estrogen protection against bone resorbing effects of parathyroid hormone infusion. Assessment by use of biochemical markers. Ann Intern Med 1185:337– 343
- Clavel-Chapelon F (2002) Differential effects of reproductive factors on the risk of pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer. Results from a large cohort of French women. Br J Cancer 865:723–727
- Lundgren E, Hagstrom EG, Lundin J et al (2002) Primary hyperparathyroidism revisited in menopausal women with serum calcium in the upper normal range at population-based screening 8 years ago. World J Surg 268:931–936
- Stewart AF (2005) Clinical practice. Hypercalcemia associated with cancer. N Engl J Med 3524:373–379
- Garne JP (1996) Invasive breast cancer in Malmö 1961–1992 an epidemiological study. Dissertation, Lund University, Malmö

- Nystrom L, Rutqvist LE, Wall S et al (1993) Breast cancer screening with mammography: overview of Swedish randomised trials. Lancet 3418851:973–978
- Welsh J (2004) Vitamin D and breast cancer: insights from animal models. Am J Clin Nutr 806(Suppl):1721S–1724S
- Boyapati SM, Shu XO, Jin F et al (2003) Dietary calcium intake and breast cancer risk among Chinese women in Shanghai. Nutr Cancer 461:38–43
- McCullough ML, Rodriguez C, Diver WR et al (2005) Dairy, calcium, and vitamin D intake and postmenopausal breast cancer risk in the Cancer Prevention Study II Nutrition Cohort. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1412:2898–2904
- Hiatt RA, Krieger N, Lobaugh B et al (1998) Prediagnostic serum vitamin D and breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 906:461

  –463
- Bertone-Johnson ER, Chen WY, Holick MF et al (2005) Plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and risk of breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 148:1991– 1997
- Parodi PW (2005) Dairy product consumption and the risk of breast cancer. J Am Coll Nutr 246(Suppl):556S–568S
- Dizdar O, Alyamac E (2004) Obesity: an endocrine tumor? Med Hypotheses 635:790–792
- Kaaks R, Lundin E, Rinaldi S et al (2002) Prospective study of IGF-I, IGF-binding proteins, and breast cancer risk, in northern and southern Sweden. Cancer Causes Control 134:307–316



# Paper II



#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# Reproductive history, lifestyle factors and season as determinants for serum calcium concentrations in women

Martin Almquist<sup>1,2</sup>, Anne-Greth Bondeson<sup>1</sup>, Lennart Bondeson<sup>3</sup>, Cat Halthur<sup>4</sup>, Johan Malm<sup>5</sup> and Jonas Manjer<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Surgery, Malmö University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden; <sup>2</sup>Malmö Diet and Cancer Study, Malmö University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden; <sup>3</sup>Department of Pathology, Malmö University Hospital, Sweden; <sup>4</sup>Department of Medical Epidemiology and Statistics, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden; <sup>5</sup>Department of Clinical Chemistry, Malmö University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden

Objective. Serum calcium concentrations have been associated with the risk of malignant disease, especially breast cancer. Thus, determinants of serum calcium concentrations, with special regard to risk factors of breast cancer, are of great interest. Material and methods. Previous studies have either been small or they have not focused on reproductive factors. The present study examined serum calcium concentrations in relation to reproductive history, selected lifestyle factors and screening season in a large population-based cohort study comprising 8,114 women. ANOVA followed by the Bonferroni t-test were used for comparison of means, and logistic regression and multiple regression analysis were used to test associations. Results. Serum calcium concentrations were lower in hormone replacement therapy users versus non-users (2.321 mmol/L versus 2.364; p < 0.001) and in users of oral contraceptives versus non-users (2.304 versus 2.348; p < 0.001). They were higher in peri-/postmenopausal versus premenopausal women (2.357 versus 2.319; p < 0.001). Overweight and obese women had higher mean calcium concentrations (2.350 and 2.355) than women with body mass index between 20 and 25 (2.342; p < 0.001). Serum calcium concentrations were higher in spring and autumn than in winter (2.352 and 2.353 versus 2.343; p=0.002). Both younger (40–45 years) (2.334; p=0.001) and older age groups (>55 years) (2.363; p<0.001) had higher mean calcium concentrations compared to those of women aged 45-50 years (2.320), even when adjusting for menopausal status, suggesting that age has an independent influence on calcium concentrations. Conclusions. It is concluded that reproductive factors such as menopausal status, use of oral contraceptives or hormonereplacement therapy, and age, BMI and season are associated with serum calcium concentrations.

Keywords: Body mass index; calcium; oestrogens; parathyroid hormone; vitamin D

### Introduction

Serum calcium concentrations have been associated with the risk of both cardiovascular [1] and malignant disease, especially breast cancer [2,3]. Thus, determinants of serum calcium concentrations are of great interest. Since reproductive factors are important risk factors for breast cancer, it is particularly important to study the association between these factors and serum calcium concentrations.

Serum calcium is tightly regulated by vitamin D and parathyroid hormone (PTH) and may be affected by a number of important diseases, such as osteoporosis, obesity and malignancy. Moreover, both vitamin D and PTH have been suggested to influence breast cancer risk [4,5]. Previous studies have found serum calcium concentrations to be associated with reproductive factors such as menopausal status [6], oestrogen concentrations [7], phase of the menstrual

cycle [8,9] and pregnancy [10]. These studies have been well designed, but were relatively small, including at most fewer than a few hundred subjects, and selected from specific groups of patients. In a relatively large cohort study including 519 patients, significant associations were also found between reproductive factors and serum calcium [11]. The largest study to date, the cohort study reported by Jorde et al., did not focus on reproductive factors, but discussed other potential risk factors related to lifestyle, such as body mass, smoking habits and alcohol consumption [1]. Concentrations of vitamin D have a distinctive seasonal variation [12], but it is not clear whether serum calcium varies over the year [13]. There is therefore need for a large populationbased cohort study investigating the impact of reproductive history, lifestyle factors and season on serum calcium concentrations.

(Received 7 February 2008; accepted 1 June 2008)

ISSN 0036-5513 print/ISSN 1502-7686 online © 2008 Informa UK Ltd (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS). DOI: 10.1080/00365510802262672 http://www.informaworld.com

<sup>\*</sup>Correspondence author. Martin Almquist, Department of Surgery, Malmö University Hospital, SE-205 02 Malmö, Sweden. Tel: +46 40 336553. Fax: +46 40 337877. Email: martin.almquist@med.lu.se

The aim of our study was to examine serum calcium concentrations in relation to reproductive history, selected lifestyle factors and screening season in a large population-based cohort study comprising 8.114 women.

#### Material and methods

#### The Malmö Preventive Project

The Malmö Preventive Project (MPP) in Malmö, Sweden, was established in 1974 for screening in regard to cardiovascular risk factors [14]. Entire birthyear cohorts, men and women, registered as citizens in Malmö were successively invited by mail to take a health examination. Approximately 70 % of invited women attended [14]. When the department closed in 1992, 10,902 women, born between 1926 and 1949, had been examined. Their mean age at baseline was 49.7 years and 59.8 % were peri-/postmenopausal [15].

#### Baseline examination

A self-administered questionnaire was used for a comprehensive interview on lifestyle habits such as obesity, smoking and alcohol consumption. Information necessary for calculation of body mass index (BMI) (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was assessed by a trained nurse at baseline examination; height was measured to the nearest centimeter and weight was recorded on a beam scale at intervals of 0.1 kg. Women were classified as peri- or postmenopausal if: they affirmed that their menstruation periods had ceased, that they had menopausal symptoms or that they were taking any "female hormonal medication" due to such symptoms. The question "Have you ever smoked daily for at least 6 months?" was used to define never and ever smokers. Ever smokers who did not confirm that they were still smoking were considered exsmokers. Alcohol consumption was divided into three categories (low, medium and high) using a modified version of MAST (the Michigan Alcoholism Screening Test), as previously described [16].

The questionnaire was revised several times. Information on reproductive history was included in the questionnaire for women screened from April 1983 and onwards. Reproductive factors available from the questionnaire were: age at menarche, menopausal status, parity, use of oral contraceptives and hormonal replacement therapy (HRT).

There were few women examined in June, July and August. Season was defined as follows: summer=May to August; autumn=September and October; winter=November to February; and spring=March and April.

The cohort was linked to the Swedish Cancer Registry in order to obtain information on prevalent cancer at baseline [2]. The current study did not include previous cancer *in situ* of the uterine cervix in the definition of prevalent cancer at baseline.

#### Serum calcium measurements

In the morning, after an overnight fast, all subjects gave a blood sample which was analysed immediately. Calcium was measured photometrically by the laboratory at the Department of Clinical Chemistry, University Hospital of Malmö, on a PRISMA multichannel autoanalyser (Clinicon AB, Bromma, Sweden) [17,18]. The coefficient of variation (CV) was 1.52 % [18] and the reference value for adult women for serum calcium during this period was 2.20–2.60 mmol/L.

### Study cohort

Out of 10,902 women in the Malmö Preventive Project, 8,161 women were examined following April 1983, i.e. when questions on reproductive factors were included. Out of these women, 8,114 had information on serum calcium concentrations. At inclusion, women were aged 42 to 58 years, with a median age of 54 years. Ethical clearance for the study was obtained from the Ethics Committee in Lund, LU 639-03.

# Statistical methods

The study cohort was divided into sixtiles based on serum calcium concentrations at baseline. The distribution of reproductive and selected lifestyle factors was investigated in relation to serum calcium concentrations. Means of serum calcium were calculated in different categories of the studied factors. Confidence intervals were chosen as an estimation of the accuracy of the estimated means. In order to test differences in mean calcium concentrations between different categories of the studied factors, ANOVA was used followed by a Bonferroni *t*-test. All tests were two-sided and a *p*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Subjects with missing information were included as a separate category.

All women were dichotomized into low (≤2.34 mmol/L) and high (≥2.35 mmol/L) calcium concentrations, the median of the study cohort. Odds ratios with 95 % confidence intervals (CI) were calculated for high versus low concentrations, in relation to the studied factors, using a logistic regression analysis. The second model was adjusted for age and a final model included all studied factors.

Missing values were coded as a separate category, except for BMI, where this information was only missing for three subjects and missing values were left as blank. Calcium concentrations were approximately normally distributed and the relation between different factors and calcium concentrations was further investigated using multiple linear regression analysis. All categorical variables in the linear regression analysis were transformed and entered as multiple categorical variables. Partial regression coefficients ( $\beta_i$ ) with 95 % confidence intervals, adjusted for all other factors, were reported. A stepwise multiple regression was undertaken, with p-values for inclusion set at 0.05 and exclusion at 0.10. All analyses were repeated excluding subjects with prevalent cancer at baseline.

#### Results

Serum calcium concentrations were overall normally distributed, with 95 % of the study population having values between 2.21 and 2.49 mmol/L.

Use of oral contraceptives and hormone replacement therapy (HRT) were more common in lower calcium sixtiles, and there was a higher percentage of older and peri/postmenopausal women in higher calcium sixtiles (Table I). Mean serum calcium concentrations tended overall to be located in a narrow interval, and corresponding CIs were well within the normal reference range at the time (Table II). Mean calcium concentrations were higher in subjects aged 40–45 and ≥50 years of age compared to those of participants aged 45–50 years (Table II). Overweight and obese women had significantly higher mean calcium concentrations compared to women with a BMI between 20 and 25.

Considering reproductive factors, mean calcium concentrations were higher in peri-/postmenopausal women versus premenopausal women, and in women without hormonal therapy (i.e. HRT or OC) versus women receiving such therapy.

Calcium concentrations varied in relation to season: the highest mean calcium concentrations were found in women screened in spring and autumn.

The adjusted logistic regression analysis revealed statistically significant ORs for high versus low calcium concentrations in relation to age, BMI, OC, HRT, menopausal status and screening season (Table III). Both lean (BMI < 20) and overweight/ obese women (BMI > 25) had a higher odds ratio for high calcium concentrations than had women with a BMI of 20 to 25. The same was found regarding age: the youngest age group (40–45 years) and the oldest (50 years and above) had a higher odds ratio for high

calcium concentrations than that of women aged 45–50 years. Premenopausality, use of OC and HRT all had higher odds ratio for low serum calcium concentrations. The OR for high serum calcium concentrations was highest in those screened in spring and autumn. There was no significant correlation between smoking and serum calcium concentrations in this cohort. There was a significant positive association between alcohol consumption and calcium concentrations in the logistic regression; however, there was no association between alcohol consumption and serum calcium in the regression analysis, nor in the ANOVA.

The multiple regression analysis showed that higher age, peri/postmenopausality, non-use of HRT or OC and menarche after 12 years of age were all associated with high calcium concentrations (Table III). R and adjusted R squared were 0.297 and 0.088, respectively. In the stepwise regression analysis, the following factors remained as predictors of serum calcium: menopausality, use of HRT, use of oral contraceptives, age at screening, number of children and age at menarche. BMI, alcohol consumption and smoking status did not remain in the model. R in the stepwise analysis was 0.269, with adjusted R squared 0.072.

Results were similar in all analyses when excluding individuals with prevalent cancer at baseline (data not shown).

## Discussion

In this large, population-based cohort comprising 8,114 women, high serum calcium concentrations were positively associated with menopause and age, and negatively associated with use of HRT, use of OC and menarche at 12 years of age or younger. BMI was significantly associated with serum calcium concentrations, with lean and overweight women having higher calcium concentrations than women with BMI between 20 and 25. Season was also associated with serum calcium concentrations, with high concentrations during spring and autumn.

In our study, both younger (40–45 years) and higher age groups (>55 years) had higher calcium concentrations compared to those of women aged 45–50 years, even when adjusting for menopausal status, suggesting that age has an independent influence on calcium concentrations. It may be that younger women have higher vitamin D concentrations than do middle-aged women, whereas older women might have higher PTH concentrations than middle-aged women as a consequence of more prevalent asymptomatic pHPT in this age group [19]. As for BMI, it is known that obese often have

Table I. Serum calcium sixtiles in relation to reproductive history, life-style factors, and season.

			Serum ca	alcium sixtile [1	mmol/L]				
-	1 [≤2.26] n=1354	2 [2.27–2.30] n=1245	3 [2.31–2.34] n=1512	4 [2.35–2.38] n=1466	5 [2.39–2.42] n=1162	6 [>2.43] n=1375	All n=8114		
Factor [number if n < 8114]	Column percent; mean (SD) in italics								
Age (years)	51.3 (4.5)	52.0 (4.5)	51.9 (4.6)	52.5 (4.4)	52.9 (4.3)	53.6 (3.9)	52.4 (4.4)		
≥40 - <45	12.6	12.0	13.4	11.3	10.5	7.1	11.2		
≥45 - <50	26.5	19.9	18.8	14.1	13.0	10.0	17.1		
≥50 - <55	26.2	25.5	24.1	23.1	20.8	19.0	23.1		
≥55	34.6	42.7	43.8	51.4	55.7	63.9	48.6		
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) [8111]	24.7 (4.3)	24.7 (4.2)	24.5 (4.1)	24.9 (4.2)	25.1 (4.4)	25.1 (4.4)	24.8 (4.2)		
< 20	7.8	5.9	7.7	8.0	6.8	8.1	7.4		
≥20 - <25	55.2	54.6	55.2	50.6	50.6	48.5	52.5		
≥25 - <30	27.0	29.4	27.8	29.7	29.5	30.8	29.0		
≥30	10.0	10.1	9.3	11.6	13.1	12.7	11.1		
Age at menarche (years) [8021]									
<12	10.7	12.8	13.5	12.4	12.0	13.3	12.5		
≥12	88.3	86.2	85.4	86.6	86.7	85.2	86.4		
Oral contraception [8056]									
No	90.7	93.7	93.9	95.6	96.1	97.1	94.5		
Yes	8.8	6.0	5.2	3.6	3.2	1.8	4.8		
Menopausal status									
Pre Pre	43.5	34.1	31.0	23.8	20.1	15.6	28.1		
Peri/post	56.5	65.9	69.0	76.2	79.9	84.4	71.9		
-									
Number of children [8020] 0	13.2	14.1	15.1	17.8	17.2	16.3	15.6		
1–2	58.7	59.5	59.4	55.9	56.9	55.5	57.7		
3–4	26.2	24.4	23.4	24.0	23.4	25.7	24.5		
>4	0.7	1.4	0.9	1.0	0.9	1.2	1.0		
HRT in peri/postmenopausal [5837]									
No	67.3	76.7	83.2	87.4	88.9	90.3	83.3		
Yes	32.7	23.0	16.8	12.6	11.0	9.7	16.6		
2 1 [00/1]									
Smoking status [8061] Never	47.9	48.0	44.8	45.9	48.2	48.1	47.0		
Ex	20.3	19.7	21.4	19.1	17.8	19.7	19.7		
Current	31.3	32.0	32.9	34.4	33.6	31.1	32.6		
A11-1									
Alcohol consumption [7364] Low	64.0	59.4	63.3	62.1	59.8	60.7	61.7		
Medium	27.9	31.3	26.3	25.6	26.4	24.5	26.9		
High	1.8	2.2	2.1	2.5	2.8	1.7	2.2		
			•				•		
Prevalent cancer No	95.6	95.7	95.6	95.5	94.6	94.5	95.3		
Yes	4.4	4.3	4.4	4.5	5.4	5.5	4.7		
	•		•				•		
Screening season Winter	43.4	42.2	40.3	40.3	39.5	36.9	40.4		
Spring	18.0	19.0	19.7	20.1	22.9	22.2	20.3		
Summer	25.8	24.5	24.3	24.1	22.5	23.3	24.1		
Autumn	12.8	14.4	15.6	15.4	15.1	17.7	15.2		

higher PTH concentrations [20], a form of secondary hyperparathyroidism, and this might explain the higher mean calcium concentrations in the overweight and obese. The obese, on the other hand, are more likely to have vitamin D deficiency than people with normal weight [21].

Vitamin D influences serum calcium concentrations and is produced in the skin under the influence

Table II. Mean serum calcium levels in relation to reproductive history, life-style factors, and season.

			Bonferroni t-test	
Factor	No.	Mean (95 % CI)	(p-value)	ANOVA (p-value)
Age (years)				
≥40 - <45	908	2.334 (2.328-2.339)	0.001	
≥45 - <50	1386	2.320 (2.316–2.324)	Ref.	
≥50 - <55	1878	2.337 (2.333–2.341)	< 0.001	
≥55	3942	2.363 (2.360–2.365)	< 0.001	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )				
< 20	604	2.348 (2.341-2.354)	0.721	
≥20 - <25	4256	2.342 (2.339-2.344)	Ref.	
≥25 - <30	2354	2.350 (2.347-2.354)	0.001	
≥30	897	2.355 (2.349–2.361)	< 0.001	< 0.001
Age at menarche (years)				
<12	1013	2.351 (2.346-2.356)	0.147	0.032
≥12	7008	2.345 (2.343–2.347)	Ref.	
Oral contraception				
No	7668	2.348 (2.346-2.350)	Ref.	
Yes	388	2.304 (2.295-2.312)	< 0.001	< 0.001
Menopausal status				
Pre Pre	2277	2.319 (2.316-2.323)	Ref.	
Peri/post	5837	2.357 (2.355–2.359)	< 0.001	< 0.001
•	3031	2.331 (2.333–2.339)	< 0.001	< 0.001
Number of children				
0	1269	2.353 (2.349–2.358)	0.012	
1-2	4678	2.344 (2.342-2.347)	Ref.	
3–4	1990	2.346 (2.342–2.350)	1.000	
>4	83	2.347 (2.329–2.366)	1.000	0.006
HRT in peri-/postmenopau	sal			
No	4864	2.364 (2.362–2.366)	Ref.	
Yes	970	2.321 (2.315–2.326)	< 0.001	< 0.001
Smoking status				
Never	3817	2.347 (2.344–2.349)	Ref.	
Ex	1602	2.344 (2.339–2.348)	1.000	
Current	2642	2.347 (2.344–2.350)	1.000	0.142
Alcohol consumption				
Low	5003	2.345 (2.342-2.347)	Ref.	
Medium	2186	2.342 (2.339-2.346)	1.000	
High	175	2.348 (2.336–2.359)	1.000	< 0.001
Prevalent cancer				
No	7729	2.346 (2.344-2.348)	Ref.	
Yes	385	2.355 (2.346–2.364)	0.034	0.034
Screening season				
Winter	3279	2.343 (2.340-2.346)	Ref.	
Spring	1644	2.352 (2.348-2.356)	0.002	
Summer	1959	2.343 (2.340-2.347)	1.000	
Autumn	1232	2.353 (2.348-2.358)	0.002	< 0.001

<sup>\*</sup> Compared to reference (p-value).

of sunlight. It is possible to hypothesize that the degree of sun exposure through increased vitamin D concentrations would lead to higher calcium concentrations in summer and autumn. However, we found the calcium concentrations to be higher in spring and autumn. Moreover, previous studies have been unable to find any relation between calcium and

season [13]. Clearly, seasonal variations in calcium concentrations have to be evaluated further.

There are several studies in the literature supporting the role of oestrogens in influencing serum calcium concentrations. Menopause [6,22], use of oestrogens, such as in oral contraceptives or for menopausal symptoms (HRT) [7], pregnancy [10] and

Table III. Crude and adjusted odds ratios (OR) for high ( $\geq 2.35 \text{ mmol/l}$ ) vs. low ( $\leq 2.34 \text{ mmol/L}$ ) calcium levels, and regression coefficients ( $\beta_i$ ) from multiple regression analysis, in relation to reproductive history, life-style factors, and season.

				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Factor	Low (n)	High (n)	Crude OR (95 % CI)	Age-adjusted OR (95 % CI)	Adjusted* OR (95 % CI)	$\beta_{\rm i}$ (95 % CI)*
Age (years)						
≥40- <45	522	386	1.33 (1.12-1.58)	not applicable	1.91 (1.58-2.31)	2.86 (2.12 to 3.59)
≥45- <50	891	495	1.00	not applicable	1.00	Baseline
≥50- <55	1036	842	1.46 (1.27–1.69)	not applicable	1.24 (1.05–1.46)	0.92 (0.27 to 3.59)
≥55	1662	2280	2.47 (2.18–2.80)	not applicable	1.73 (1.50–2.00)	2.56 (1.99 to 3.13)
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )						
< 20	296	308	1.18 (0.99-1.40)	1.24 (1.04-1.47)	1.21 (1.01-1.45)	-0.73 (-1.43 to -0.02)
≥20- <25	2261	1995	1.00	1.00	1.00	Baseline
≥25- <30	1153	1201	1.18 (1.07-1.31)	1.13 (1.02-1.25)	1.10 (0.98-1.22)	-0.31 (-1.06 to 0.44)
≥30	401	496	1.40 (1.21–1.62)	1.28 (1.11–1.49)	1.20 (1.03–1.40)	-0.25 (-1.12 to 0.61)
Age at menarche	(years)					
< 12	508	505	1.03 (0.90-1.17)	1.06 (0.93-1.21)	1.01 (0.88-1.16)	-0.55 (-1.10 to -0.01)
≥12	3560	3448	1.00	1.00	1.00	Baseline
Oral contraception	on					
No	3814	3854	1.00	1.00	1.00	Baseline
Yes	273	115	0.42 (0.33-0.52)	0.53 (0.42–0.67)	0.67 (0.53–0.85)	-2.17 (-3.05 to -1.30)
Menopausal stat	us					
Pre	1481	796	1.00	1.00	1.00	Baseline
Peri/post	2630	3207	2.27 (2.05–2.51)	2.02 (1.78–2.29)	2.43 (2.12–2.78)	3.88 (3.35 to 4.40)
Number of child	ren					
0	584	685	1.27 (1.12-1.44)	1.28 (1.13-1.45)	1.35 (1.19–1.54)	1.08 (0.57 to 1.59)
1-2	2434	2244	1.00	1.00	1.00	Baseline
3-4	1013	977	1.05 (0.94-1.16)	1.06 (0.95-1.18)	1.04 (0.94-1.16)	0.15 (-0.28 to 0.59)
>4	41	42	1.11 (0.72–1.72)	1.06 (0.68–1.64)	0.91 (0.58–1.43)	-0.53 (-2.32 to 1.26)
HRT in peri/pos						
No	2014	2850	1.00	1.00	1.00	Baseline
Yes	614	356	0.41 (0.36-0.47)	0.41 (0.36-0.48)	0.42 (0.36-0.48)	-4.19 (-4.77 to -3.62)
Smoking status						
Never	1922	1895	1.00	1.00	1.00	Baseline
Ex	844	758	0.91 (0.81-1.02)	0.93 (0.82-1.04)	0.91 (0.80-1.03)	-0.31 (-0.79  to  0.17)
Current	1320	1322	1.02 (0.92–1.12)	1.07 (0.96–1.18)	1.02 (0.92–1.14)	0.00 (-0.43 to 0.42)
Alcohol consum		2440				D 11
Low	2563	2440	1.00	1.00	1.00	Baseline
Medium	1166	1020	0.92 (0.83–1.02)	0.97 (0.88–1.08)	1.03 (0.92–1.14)	0.26 (-0.16 to 0.69)
High	83	92	1.16 (0.86–1.58)	1.30 (0.96–1.77)	1.35 (0.99–1.85)	0.88 (-0.37 to 2.13)
Prevalent cancer		4500	1.00	1.00	1.00	D "
No Yes	3931 180	3798 205	1.00 1.18 (0.96–1.45)	1.00 1.10 (0.90–1.36)	1.00 1.02 (0.83–1.27)	Baseline 0.29 (-0.55 to 1.14)
Screening season	,					
Winter	1722	1557	1.00	1.00	1.00	Baseline
Spring	778	866	1.23 (1.09–1.39)	1.20 (1.06–1.36)	1.26 (1.11–1.43)	-0.91 (-1.45 to -0.36)
Summer	1023	936	1.01 (0.90–1.13)	1.01 (0.90–1.14)	1.03 (0.91–1.16)	0.06 (-0.57 to 0.70)
Autumn	588	644	1.21 (1.06–1.38)	1.24 (1.08–1.41)	1.20 (1.04–1.38)	
Autuiiii	200	044	1.21 (1.00-1.38)	1.24 (1.00-1.41)	1.20 (1.04-1.38)	-0.78 (-1.40 to -0.15)

<sup>\*</sup> Adjusted for all factors in the table.

the phases of the menstrual cycle [9] have been shown to affect serum calcium, with oestrogen generally lowering serum calcium concentrations. The exact mechanisms remain unclear, but the effect might be mediated by altered skeletal [23,24] and renal [25,26] sensitivity to PTH.

It is also possible that menopause *per se* induces changes in intestinal calcium absorption [27]; it has been shown that intestinal calcium absorption can be independently influenced by oestrogens even in the absence of vitamin D [28].

Hence, the interplay between serum calcium, PTH, vitamin D, oestrogen and other factors is complex, and it is possible that different mechanisms are responsible for the observed differences between calcium concentrations in this cohort. Future studies, which must include information on vitamin D and PTH status, and possibly also oestrogen, are needed in order to clarify this.

There was no association in this cohort between smoking and serum calcium, whereas at least two previous studies have found such associations [1,11]. The association between alcohol consumption and serum calcium concentrations was ambiguous in this cohort. The logistic regression analysis showed a positive association, whereas multiple regression analysis and the Bonferroni *t*-test comparing means in different groups did not reach statistical significance.

One cause of high calcium concentrations in selected populations is advanced malignancy. In our cohort, there were data on prevalent cancer for all 8,114 women, but there was no significant association between this condition and serum calcium concentrations. When subjects with prevalent cancer were excluded, results were similar.

It is questionable whether it is appropriate to use a single determination for ranking serum calcium concentrations. Both short-time [29] and long-time [30] intra-individual variation in total serum calcium are low. Even though serum calcium concentrations rise with menopause, there seems to be significant 'tracking', i.e. the ranking of calcium concentrations between individuals tends to remain the same before and after menopause [22]. Inter-individual differences in absolute values for serum calcium are low and their clinical significance might be questioned. However, in order to better understand calcium metabolism and biological mechanisms, even minor differences may be important. Since serum calcium might be a risk factor for common diseases such as cardiovascular and malignant disease, small variations in absolute concentrations might be of great importance, especially when large groups are compared. The differences in serum calcium concentrations are of the same magnitude as in previous studies [1]. Thus, we believe that a single measurement of serum calcium is a useful marker for differences with regard to calcium homeostasis.

It has been argued that free (ionized) calcium provides a better measure of calcium status, since total calcium concentrations are affected by plasma protein concentrations, notably albumin. However, total calcium has been considered a good measure of calcium homeostasis in outpatients and healthy individuals where albumin will be expected to be in the normal range [17]. In this material, among those where albumin was measured (n=2206), only 77 had values outside the reference interval of 36–45 g/L. Moreover, all samples were collected in a standardized manner, which minimizes differences in albumin concentrations due to fasting status or diurnal variation [31]. It is thus reasonable to consider total serum calcium as a useful and valid measurement of calcium status in this study population.

A valid question is whether serum calcium concentrations in this cohort can be considered representative of the general population. This cohort mainly comprised middle-aged women and 30 % of the women invited to the health examination did not attend. As there was no information about exposure to the studied risk factors in women outside this cohort, observed concentrations may not be applicable to all age groups or to the general population. However, as there was a wide distribution of calcium concentrations it was possible to make internal comparisons between subjects with low and high values, respectively. It can thus be assumed that the estimations of associations were not particularly affected by selection bias.

It is possible that both high serum calcium concentrations and reproductive and/or lifestyle factors are associated with other known or unknown factors, i.e. confounding. The multivariate analysis included all studied factors, i.e. age, reproductive factors, lifestyle, prevalent cancer at baseline and season. Hence, these factors ought not to have confounded each others' association with calcium concentrations. A limitation of the study is that there was no information on potentially important factors such as genetics, physical activity, coffee consumption, age at first birth and age at menopause, dietary intake of calcium and vitamin D or supplement use. It has previously been shown that calcium concentrations in healthy individuals are mainly unaffected by calcium intake [1]. It is difficult to predict vitamin D concentrations from dietary information, but direct measurements of vitamin D (i.e. 25-OH- vitamin D) would have been valuable. This could be the object of future studies. Polymorphisms and mutations in genes for proteins responsible for calcium homeostasis, especially the calcium-sensing receptor CASR, have been shown to be associated with serum calcium concentrations [32,33]. We are not aware of any study investigating associations between these genetic variants and reproductive factors, but this would be an interesting object for future study. The acute effects of

physical exercise include an increase in PTH and a decrease in serum calcium [34], but long-term effects are less certain [1]. In previous studies, strong but small positive associations have been found between coffee consumption and serum calcium [1]; this could not be examined in the present cohort.

This large population-based cohort study shows that reproductive factors, such as menopausal status, use of oral contraceptives or hormone-replacement therapy and age and BMI are associated with serum calcium concentrations.

### Acknowledgements

Financial support was received from The Ernhold Lundström Foundation, The Einar and Inga Nilsson Foundation, The Malmö University Hospital Cancer Research Fund, The Malmö University Hospital Funds and Donations, The Crafoord Foundation, The Foundation for Surgical Research at Malmö University Hospital, and The Swedish Research Council.

**Declaration of interest:** The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

#### References

- Jorde R, Sundsfjord J, Bonaa KH. Determinants of serum calcium in men and women. The Tromso Study. Eur J Epidemiol 2001;17:1117–23.
- [2] Almquist M, Manjer J, Bondeson L, Bondeson AG. Serum calcium and breast cancer risk: results from a prospective cohort study of 7,847 women. Cancer Causes Control 2007;18: 595–602.
- [3] Journe F, Dumon JC, Kheddoumi N, Fox J, Laios I, Leclercq G, et al. Extracellular calcium downregulates estrogen receptor alpha and increases its transcriptional activity through calcium-sensing receptor in breast cancer cells. Bone 2004;35:479–88.
- [4] Bertone-Johnson ER, Chen WY, Holick MF, Hollis BW, Colditz GA, Willett WC, et al. Plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and risk of breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2005;14:1991–7.
- [5] McCarty MF. Parathyroid hormone may be a cancer promoter – an explanation for the decrease in cancer risk associated with ultraviolet light, calcium, and vitamin D. Med Hypotheses 2000;54:475–82.
- [6] Young MM, Nordin BE. Calcium metabolism and the menopause. Proc R Soc Med 1967;60:1137–8.
- [7] Marshall RW, Francis RM, Hodgkinson A. Plasma total and ionised calcium, albumin and globulin concentrations in preand post-menopausal women and the effects of oestrogen administration. Clin Chim Acta 1982;122:283–7.
- [8] Pitkin RM, Reynolds WA, Williams GA, Hargis GK. Calcium-regulating hormones during the menstrual cycle. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1978;47:626–32.
- [9] Zittermann A, Schwarz I, Scheld K, Sudhop T, Berthold HK, von Bergmann K, et al. Physiologic fluctuations of serum

- estradiol levels influence biochemical markers of bone resorption in young women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000;85: 95–101.
- [10] Sukonpan K, Phupong V. Serum calcium and serum magnesium in normal and preeclamptic pregnancy. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2005;273:12–16.
- [11] Leino A, Jarvisalo J, Impivaara O, Kaitsaari M. Ovarian hormone status, life-style factors, and markers of bone metabolism in women aged 50 years. Calcif Tissue Int 1994;54:262–7.
- [12] Steingrimsdottir L, Gunnarsson O, Indridason OS, Franzson L, Sigurdsson G. Relationship between serum parathyroid hormone levels, vitamin D sufficiency, and calcium intake. J Am Med Assoc 2005;294:2336-41.
- [13] Krall EA, Sahyoun N, Tannenbaum S, Dallal GE, Dawson-Hughes B. Effect of vitamin D intake on seasonal variations in parathyroid hormone secretion in postmenopausal women. N Engl J Med 1989;321:1777–83.
- [14] Berglund G, Eriksson KF, Israelsson B, Kjellstrom T, Lindgarde F, Mattiasson I, et al. Cardiovascular risk groups and mortality in an urban Swedish male population: the Malmo Preventive Project. J Intern Med 1996;239:489–97.
- [15] Manjer J, Berglund G, Bondesson L, Garne JP, Janzon L, Malina J. Breast cancer incidence in relation to smoking cessation. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2000;61:121–9.
- [16] Kristenson H, Trell E. Indicators of alcohol consumption: comparisons between a questionnaire (Mm-MAST), interviews and serum gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) in a health survey of middle-aged males. Br J Addict 1982;77: 297–304.
- [17] Nilsson-Ehle P. Laurells klinisk kemi i praktisk medicin. 8 ed, Sweden: Studentlitteratur AB; 2003.
- [18] Solberg HE. Monitoring long-term analytical quality by computerized combined Shewart-cusum method. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1984;Suppl 172:43–9.
- [19] Lundgren E, Hagstrom EG, Lundin J, Winnerback K, Roos J, Ljunghall S, et al. Primary hyperparathyroidism revisited in menopausal women with serum calcium in the upper normal range at population-based screening 8 years ago. World J Surg 2002;26:931–6.
- [20] Andersen T, McNair P, Hyldstrup L, Fogh-Andersen N, Nielsen TT, Astrup A, et al. Secondary hyperparathyroidism of morbid obesity regresses during weight reduction. Metabolism 1988;37:425–8.
- [21] Martins D, Wolf M, Pan D, Zadshir A, Tareen N, Thadhani R, et al. Prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors and the serum levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in the United States: data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Arch Intern Med 2007;167:1159–65.
- [22] Nordin BE, JM WI, Clifton PM, McArthur R, Scopacasa F, Need AG, et al. A longitudinal study of bone-related biochemical changes at the menopause. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2004;61:123–30.
- [23] Cosman F, Shen V, Xie F, Seibel M, Ratcliffe A, Lindsay R. Estrogen protection against bone resorbing effects of parathyroid hormone infusion. Assessment by use of biochemical markers. Ann Intern Med 1993;118:337–43.
- [24] Liu BY, Wu PW, Bringhurst FR, Wang JT. Estrogen inhibition of PTH-stimulated osteoclast formation and attachment in vitro: involvement of both PKA and PKC. Endocrinology 2002;143:627–35.
- [25] Adami S, Gatti D, Bertoldo F, Rossini M, Fratta-Pasini A, Zamberlan N, et al. The effects of menopause and estrogen replacement therapy on the renal handling of calcium. Osteoporos Int 1992;2:180–5.

0

- [26] McKane WR, Khosla S, Burritt MF, Kao PC, Wilson DM, Ory SJ, et al. Mechanism of renal calcium conservation with estrogen replacement therapy in women in early postmenopause – a clinical research center study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1995;80:3458–64.
- [27] Nordin BE, Need AG, Morris HA, O'Loughlin PD, Horowitz M. Effect of age on calcium absorption in postmenopausal women. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80:998–1002.
- [28] Van Cromphaut SJ, Rummens K, Stockmans I, Van Herck E, Dijcks FA, Ederveen AG, et al. Intestinal calcium transporter genes are upregulated by estrogens and the reproductive cycle through vitamin D receptor-independent mechanisms. J Bone Miner Res 2003;18:1725–36.
- [29] Ricos C, Alvarez V, Cava F, Garcia-Lario JV, Hernandez A, Jimenez CV, et al. Current databases on biological variation: pros, cons and progress. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1999;59: 491–500.

- [30] Gallagher SK, Johnson LK, Milne DB. Short-term and longterm variability of indices related to nutritional status. I: Ca, Cu, Fe, Mg, and Zn. Clin Chem 1989;35:369–73.
- [31] Leifsson BG, Ahren B. Serum calcium and survival in a large health screening program. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1996;81:2149-53.
- [32] Cole DE, Peltekova VD, Rubin LA, Hawker GA, Vieth R, Liew CC, et al. A986S polymorphism of the calcium-sensing receptor and circulating calcium concentrations. Lancet 1999;353:112–15.
- [33] Scillitani A, Guarnieri V, De Geronimo S, Muscarella LA, Battista C, D'Agruma L, et al. Blood ionized calcium is associated with clustered polymorphisms in the carboxylterminal tail of the calcium-sensing receptor. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:5634–8.
- [34] Ljunghall S, Joborn H, Benson L, Fellstrom B, Wide L, Akerstrom G. Effects of physical exercise on serum calcium and parathyroid hormone. Eur J Clin Invest 1984;14:469–73.

# Paper III

# Paper IV